
 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Cabinet 

Date: Thursday, 21st October, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 

 
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 
 
1   Apologies  

 

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 
2   Minutes  3 - 11 

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 21st 
September 2021. 

 

 
3   Declarations of Interest  

 

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

 
4   Urgent Items of Business  

 

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press  

 

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 
 

 

 
6   Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)  12 - 164 

Public Document Pack



 Report of the Portfolio for Economy and Communications/Director of 
Economy. 

 

 
7   Exclusion of Press and Public  

 

 To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

 

 
8   Upperbanks - Contract modification  165 - 170 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications / Director of Economy 

 

 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Neil Emmott 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Sara Rowbotham Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Councillor Liam O'Rourke Councillor Susan Smith 
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
01706 924711/924715 
alison.james@Rochdale.Gov.UK



CABINET 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Tuesday, 21st September 2021 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Neil Emmott (in the Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Daalat Ali, Blundell, Rachel Massey, Meredith, O’Rourke, Rowbotham and 
Wardle. 
 
OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), S. Hubber (Director of Children’ 
Services), C. Richardson (Director of Strategic Commissioning/DASS),  
D. Bowler (Assistant Director - Place),  M. Robinson (Assistant Director – 
Planning), J. Murphy (Chief Finance Officer), S. Blezard (Assistant Director of 
Operations – Adult Social Care), A. Bradwell (Economy Directorate),  
N. Rogers (Head of Public Protection), J. Hollamby, A. Storey 
(Neighbourhoods Directorate), M. Ashworth, C. Goddard and P. Thompson 
(Resources Directorate).  
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Rush and one member of the public. 
 

41 APOLOGIES 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Susan Smith and 
Councillor Dearnley. 
 

42 MINUTES 
Resolved: 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet, held 31st August 2021, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

43 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Councillor Blundell declared a personal and prejudicial interest in agenda item 7 
(Deputy Criteria Review) and agenda item 14 (Property Investment Risk) and he 
left the room whilst these two matters were considered, therefore taking no part in 
their discussion or determination. 
 

44 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
There were no urgent items of business for this meeting of the Cabinet to 
consider. 
 

45 COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR CARE LEAVERS 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer that sought 
approval to amend the criteria for the 100% council tax discount scheme that 
existed for care leavers who resided in the borough, and who were aged 18 to 
25, with effect from 1st November 2021. 
 
The Cabinet was informed that this report had been considered by the 
Corporate Overview and Scrtuiny Committee, at its meeting held on 14th 
September 2021, where the recommendations were supported. 
 
Alternatives considered: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



The council tax discount scheme for care leavers could remain as it presently 
is.  The outcome of this would be that Rochdale Borough care leavers would 
be treated differently to care leavers from other Greater Manchester 
authorities and they could potentially accrue debt at an earlier age at the 
outset of their independent lives which the Council is compelled to pursue, 
with the detrimental impacts this could cause.    
 
Resolved: 
That the Cabinet endorses the proposals contained in the report and 
recommends that the recommendations contained therein, be approved by 
the Council at its meeting on 13th October 2021. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 
On 1st March 2017, the Council introduced a 100% council tax discount 
scheme for care leavers who lived in the Borough and who were aged 18 to 
20 years. On 12th December 2018, the Council extended the scheme to care 
leavers who lived in the Borough and who were aged 18 to 25 years. This 
reflected the Government change to extend the Council’s corporate parenting 
responsibility to 25 years.  
 
A care leaver was defined as a person who has been in the care of the local 
authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 and who was in care on 
their 16th birthday. All Greater Manchester authorities had agreed to provide a 
council tax discount scheme using this definition.  
 
Because the definition excluded those care leavers who go into care after 
their 16th birthday, these care leavers weren’t eligible for the council tax 
discount and so the other Greater Manchester authorities had agreed to 
amend their council tax discount schemes using the following definition: ‘A 
person who has been in the care of the local authority for at least 13 weeks 
since the age of 14, including some time after their 16th’. 
Eligible for call-in: No. 
 

46 DEPUTY CRITERIA REVIEW 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services which 
advised that the wellbeing principle of The Care Act 2014 had made it clear 
that a Local Authority’s duty is to ensure the wellbeing of individuals must be 
at the centre of all it does.  It was therefore important to consider financial 
wellbeing for individuals when looking at their overall wellbeing.  
  
The Council’s Adult Care service offered a Corporate Appointee and Deputy 
(Property and Financial Affairs) Service for residents with eligible care and 
support needs.  
 
An Appointee was someone who is appointed by the Department of Work and 
Pension (DWP) to receive and manage someone’s DWP benefits, this 
included spending the benefits in the person’s best interests (for example 
paying for priority bills).  A Deputy (Property and Financial Affairs) was 
someone appointed by the Court of Protection to manage the property and 
financial affairs of a person who lacks the mental capacity to do this for 

Page 4



themselves.  This would be required where a person has income or assets 
other than DWP benefits.  
 
The Cabinet was advised that there were currently (as at period 2, 2021/2022) 
298 live Appointee cases and there were two live Deputy cases. 
 
Alternatives considered: 
None reported. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Cabinet approves the amendment, detailed in the report, to increase 
the capital asset value threshold in the eligibility criteria for the ACS Corporate 
Deputyship service, meaning that service users with less than £25,000 in 
capital assets or property can access the Rochdale Borough Council’s 
Corporate Deputy service, instead of the current threshold which is set at the 
lower value of £16,000. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 
The Council’s Corporate Deputy is the Assistant Director (Operations), Adult 
Care service who requested to review the current eligibility criteria for the 
Council’s Corporate Deputy service due to our low case numbers and to 
ensure that service users are able to access this service that can be vital to 
ensure their financial wellbeing. 
 
The recommendations outlined in the submitted report were made to the 
named Deputy as part of a wider review process, and agreement in principle 
was given to explore and proceed with the threshold increase as outlined in 
paragraph 2.1 of the submitted report. 
 
There was a gap between the current asset limit of £16,000 and the minimum 
asset limit that a Panel Solicitor would usually accept a referral.  This meant 
that where it was in a person’s best interests to have a Deputy (Property and 
Financial Affairs) they may not be able to access this service which then 
impacts on their financial wellbeing.   
 
This would allow the Council to ensure that more service users are able to 
access this service that can be vital to ensure their financial wellbeing.  
 
In addition, this may have a positive outcome for some of the Council’s 
existing service users as it can be ensured that they are suitably placed under 
the correct service, either Appointeeship or Deputyship and receiving the 
necessary support and they need. 
Eligible for Call-in: Yes. 
 

47 OBJECTION TO TRAFFIC ORDER - BURY AND ROCHDALE OLD ROAD, 
ROCHDALE 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods/Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Housing which presented proposals to introduce 
some ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ Restrictions on part of Bury and Rochdale Old 
Road (B6222), which have been advertised and which had resulted in one 

Page 5



objection being received. The section of road concerned was situated in two 
wards (Norden and North Heywood) and in different townships. Rochdale 
North Township Delegated Sub-Committee has approved the part in its area 
at its meeting held on 10th March 2020. Heywood Township Committee and its 
Delegated Sub-Committee had considered the objection, given the matter 
further consideration but did not feel able to fully support the scale of 
restrictions proposed in their area, most recently at the Heywood Township 
Committee meeting held on 15th February 2021. 
 
The purpose of the submitted report, therefore, was to examine the proposals 
and emphasise individual parts of it to assist Cabinet in reaching a decision.  
 
The report advised Members that in considering the report, the proposed 
Orders related to a highway of strategic importance and were being 
processed in accordance with the Council’s Constitution Part 3 Section 8.2.2 
in that Committee(s) have delegated power to confirm the proposals and the 
Order. In this instance, where Heywood Township Committee did not feel able 
to confirm the proposals and the Order, it was being referred back to the 
Cabinet for determination. 
 
The proposal was advertised, the COVID Pandemic has caused cancellation 
of meetings for many months, and had created a situation where authority to 
complete the Order making process expires later in 2021, and this Cabinet 
meeting was reported to be the final opportunity to make a decision to 
implement the TRO, before legal authorisation to make a Traffic Regulation 
Order expires, some 2 years after it was originally advertised in November 
2019.  
 
Appendix A to the report detailed a plan of the scheme as advertised. 
Appendix B to the report showed a plan of the scheme in more detail 
indicating the position of long-established cycle lanes on Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road, drawing attention to two protective island build-outs that help 
segregate cycles and vehicles.  
 
Alternatives considered: 
The restrictions proposed in the report were considered necessary to alleviate 
some identified parking problems affecting and obstructing traffic flow, 
pedestrians, and junction visibility along Bury and Rochdale Old Road. 
Scaling down the proposals, or not implementing them, in the opinion of the 
Council’s Highways Officers would not address the issues raised. Similarly, 
Highways Officers felt that a partial introduction of the scheme on just one 
side of Bury and Rochdale Old Road by introducing only one of the two 
proposed Traffic regulation Orders would not address the identified problem 
and would cause immediate displacement onto the opposite side of the road 
further risking obstruction of visibility and its associated problems at the 
central traffic island used by pedestrians. 
 
Resolved: 
That this matter be delegated to the Director of Neighbourhoods, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Housing, to 

Page 6



determine but in the event of the matter not being resolved it be re-presented 
to the Cabinet for decision. 
 
Reasons for the recommendations: 
Heywood Township Committee had not felt able to confirm the proposals, 
therefore in accordance with Part 3 Section 8.2.2, of the Council’s 
Constitution, the Order, was being presented to the Cabinet for determination. 
Eligible for Call-in: No. 
 

48 GM MINIMUM LICENSING STANDARDS FOR TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE - 
STAGE 1 RECOMMENDATIONS REPORT 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Head of Public Protection/Cabinet 
Member for Climate Change and Sustainability, which set out ‘Stage 1’ 
recommendations in respect of minimum licensing standards for taxis and 
private hire vehicles across Greater Manchester.   
 
Currently around 2,000 hackney vehicles, approximately 11,500 private hire 
vehicles and upwards of 18,600 drivers are licensed across the ten Greater 
Manchester Authorities. Whilst there are many similarities in terms of policy 
standards and licence conditions, there are also significant differences, 
particularly when it comes to policies relating to the licensing of vehicles, the 
calculation of licensing fees and the approach to proactive compliance. 
 
In 2018, Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities agreed to collectively 
develop, approve and implement a common set of minimum licensing 
standards (MLS) for taxi and private hire services.  
 
The MLS were divided into four distinct sections as follows: Licensed Drivers -  
including criminal records checks, medical examinations, local knowledge 
test, English language requirements, driver training including driving 
proficiency and common licence conditions; Licensed vehicles; including 
vehicle emissions, vehicle ages, common vehicle colour and livery, vehicle 
testing, CCTV, Executive Hire and vehicle design common licence conditions; 
Licensed private hire operators; including common licence conditions, DBS 
checks for operators and staff every year, fit and proper criteria for operator 
applications and common licence conditions; and Local Authority Standards: 
including application deadlines and targets, Greater Manchester Enforcement 
Policy, Licensing Fee Framework, annual councillor training requirements and 
Officer delegations. 
 
Due to the breadth of the proposals to be considered by Members, and the 
complexity of the vehicle standards (and their link to the Clean Air Plan), the 
submitted report sought to provide Members with detailed consultation 
feedback and officer recommendations on the Drivers, Operator and Local 
Authority Standard elements at Stage 1. 
 
Alternatives considered: 
None. 
 
Resolved: 

Page 7



1. That the Cabinet notes the detail of and reasons for the proposed 
standards for licensed drivers, licensed private hire operators and local 
authorities. 

2. The Cabinet notes the consultation responses received both from 
across Greater Manchester and the Rochdale Borough. 

3. The Cabinet notes the comments and considerations for each standard 
in response to the consultation responses received. 

4. The Cabinet notes that members of the Council’s Planning and 
Licensing Committee on 2nd September were supportive of the 
standards and their implementation. 

5. The Cabinet notes and approves the recommendations in the 
submitted report for each of the standards for licensed drivers, licensed 
private hire operators and local authorities. 

6. The Cabinet notes and approves the implementation of the standards 
for licensed drivers, licensed private hire operators and local authorities 
with a go live date of 1st December 2021. 

Reasons for the resolutions: 
The Department for Transport had published statutory guidance for taxi and 
private hire licensing authorities in July 2020. This statutory guidance firmly 
highlighted past failings of licensing regimes in putting public safety at the 
forefront of their policies and procedures.  
 
The statutory guidance asked authorities to have due regard to reviewing its 
policies thoroughly and considering good practice in the implementation of 
robust standards that address the safeguarding of the public and the potential 
impact of failings in this area. 
 
Greater Manchester local authorities have a great history of collaborative 
working and strive for consistency of approach to regulatory matters. The 
introduction of consistent minimum standards ensures that the travelling 
public across the Greater Manchester conurbation are protected equally 
irrespective as to which Greater Manchester local authority issues the taxi or 
private hire licence. 
Eligible for Call-in: No. 
 

49 GM 2040 STREETS FOR ALL STRATEGY 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Directors of Economy and 
Neighbourhoods/Cabinet Members Highways and Housing and regeneration 
and Communications which provided members with an overview of the 
Greater Manchester Streets for All Strategy, which was to form a sub-strategy 
to the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.   The Cabinet was asked 
to review the content and objectives of the strategy and provide any 
comments prior to consideration by the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA). 
   
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) had been working with the GMCA, 
the ten Greater Manchester Districts and the Greater Manchester Mayor to 
prepare new and updated transport strategy documents which would cover 
the entire Manchester city region in support of the GM 2040 Transport 

Page 8



Strategy.  The Streets for All Sub Strategy was to support the delivery of the 
Rochdale Local Transport Implementation Plan (DLIP) which sets out practical 
actions to achieve the ambitions of the strategy at a local level. 
 
The Cabinet was advised that this matter was due to be determined by the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority at its next scheduled meeting on 30th 
September 2021. The Cabinet was further advised that this matter had been 
considered by members of the Communities, regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at a briefing held on 14th September 2021, 
where broad support for the proposals was expressed. 
 

             Alternatives considered: 
The 2040 Transport Strategy and Delivery Plans, alongside the likes of Places 
for Everyone, would help to articulate for residents and the Government how 
Councils across Greater Manchester will deliver sustainable economic growth.  
It will also help to identify transport improvements which will need to take 
place to support these strategic growth locations.  Together, these documents 
offered an integrated approach to transport and land use planning, by 
identifying the transport interventions required to deliver the scale of growth 
being planned across Greater Manchester over the next couple of decades. 
 
At a local level, the guidance will also help to develop the transport and minor 
interventions that will need to be delivered in the short term to support the 
likes of the Rochdale Borough Growth Plan, Rail Corridor Strategy and Town 
Centre Masterplans, as well as Right Mix and Carbon Reduction targets.  It 
would also be helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of priority 
local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years. 
 
To not approve these sub-strategies could result in the loss of significant 
future external funding opportunities for the Borough. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Cabinet endorses the Greater Manchester Streets for All Strategy. 
 
Reasons for the resolution: 
The report provided details of the content and publication arrangements for 
the GM Streets for All Strategy prior to consideration by the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority. The document will form part of the GM 2040 
Transport Strategy 2040, Our Five Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) and Local 
Implementation Plan and will be used to inform the design and implementation 
of highway schemes at the local level as well as support Council and GMCA 
bids for external funding.  The report considers the documents alongside other 
planned strategic activities. 
Eligible for Call-in: No. 
 

50 ROCHDALE STATION SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Economy/Cabinet Member 
for Economy and Communications detailing a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) that had been produced for the Rochdale Station area to 
guide and support the continued regeneration and renewal of this area by 

Page 9



providing detailed planning and design advice. The draft document, which had 
been published earlier in 2021 and which had been subject to further revision 
following comments made during the public consultation period. The report 
sought the approval of the Cabinet to adopt the amended SPD document 
following public consultation in accordance with the requirements of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations. 
 
The Cabinet were advised that the SPD had been considered by the 
Rochdale South Township Committee meeting held on 16th September 2021, 
where the proposals contained therein were supported. 
 
Alternatives considered: 
Not adopting the SPD could result in less clarity in terms of guidance to 
applicants and developers within this important regeneration area. This may 
result in proposals which do not properly deal with planning requirements and 
result in poorer quality schemes being submitted. Furthermore, there could be 
a consequence should the Council consider to invoke its powers through the 
Compulsory Purchase Order process.  
 
Resolved: 

1. The Cabinet acknowledges the proposed amendments to the SPD, 
following the consultation exercise with the public  

2. That Cabinet adopts the updated SPD, as set out in appendix A of the 
submitted report, in accordance with the requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

3. That the Cabinet authorise the Director of Economy, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Communications, to make 
any necessary factual or editorial changes prior to publishing the final 
Rochdale Station Supplementary Planning. 

 
Reasons for the resolution: 
The Cabinet was advised that as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Supplementary Planning Documents build upon and provide 
more detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. 
Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 set out the requirements for producing SPDs. 
Regulation 12 requires that consultation is undertaken prior to the adoption of 
an SPD. 
Eligible for Call-in: No. 
 

51 TOWNS FUND - AWARD OF GRANT AND UPDATE 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Economy/Cabinet Member 
for Economy and Communications which informed Members that Rochdale 
Borough Council, had recently secured an offer of £24,600,000 from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), and the 
purpose of the submitted report was to secure authority to accept the funding. 
The report also listed a number of projects ad proposed projects which could 
benefit from the funding. 
 
Alternatives considered: 

Page 10



To not accept the funding, which would mean that projects and proposed 
projects, would lose the opportunity to secure significant public sector funding. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the Cabinet agrees to accept the funding offer from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

2. That the Cabinet agrees to delegate responsibility for 
developing and approving the detailed business cases for the 
projects to the Director of Economy and Chief Finance Officer 
in conjunction with the Cabinet Member Economy and 
Communications.  

3. That the Cabinet notes the list of projects and proposed 
projects detailed in the submitted report.  

 
Reasons for the resolutions: 
The Cabinet was advised that the recommendations in the report were 
presented as to accept the funding offer would enable external funding to be 
secured to support the delivery of the Rochdale Town Investment Plan. 
Eligible for Call-in: Yes. 
 

52 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
Resolved: 
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following five items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.  
 
Reason for the resolution  
Should the press and public remain during debate on these three items there 
may be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Part 3 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

53 PROPERTY INVESTMENT RISK 
The Cabinet received a confidential report which detailed the risks associated 
with property investments made and proposed to be made by and on behalf of 
the Council. The Cabinet was advised that this report had previously been 
considered by members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 12th July 2021, where the report had been commended. 
 
In considering the report the Cabinet was informed that decisions concerning 
investment in property undertaken by the Council were being now made with 
full knowledge of the potential risks and rewards inherent in the activity. 
Cabinet Members expressed their satisfaction with this assurance. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted and welcomed. 
Eligible for Call-in: No. 
 

Page 11



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21 October 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Paul Moore 

 Public/Private Document Public 
 

 

Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report summarises the outcome of the public consultation on the draft 

Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and the Council’s 
response to these, and recommends Cabinet adopts the amended SPD in 
response to the outcomes of the consultation. 

 
Recommendation 

 
2.1 
 
 
2.2 
2.3 

To note the representations received in response to the consultation on the 
draft SPD and agree to the Council’s amendments to these set out in the 
Schedule of Comments included within the Statement of Consultation  
Adopt the Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document SPD. 
Delegate authority to Head of Planning (subject to discussion with the 
Portfolio Holder) to make typographical corrections and any other necessary 
non-material amendments to the Lower Falinge SPD prior to the formal 
publication of the SPD in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 To formally approve and adopt the Supplementary Planning Document under 

regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and section 23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, which will be afforded weight as a material planning consideration. 

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



4.  
 
4.1 

Background 
 
Lower Falinge has been recognised as needing investment in order to provide 
the tenants and residents with a better mix and quality of homes and better 
opportunities. Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) commissioned Levitt 
Bernstein and GVA (now Avison Young) in early 2017 to produce a 
Masterplan for an area that included Lower Falinge to explore possible 
options for long term investment in the area. 
 
A Draft SPD for a wider area was produced and consulted on in 2019.  
However, as a result of comments raised during consultation in respect of part 
of the area covered by that SPD it was decided that the document would be 
amended to remove that area from the document before consultation was 
undertaken on a revised document.  
 
As such, a revised Draft SPD was produced which relates to an area 
principally focussed on the Lower Falinge estate and the land to the east up 
to Whitworth Road.  The boundary on the area covered by the SPD is shown 
on the map within the SPD.  
 
This Draft SPD was consulted on early in 2021. This SPD builds on the 
Masterplan and has been prepared to establish an appropriate framework to 
guide and deliver development by setting out the development, design and 
accessibility principles. 
 
 
Purpose of a SPD 
 
The SPD, once adopted, will provide a development strategy for the Lower 
Falinge area. It outlines potential development opportunities within the area 
including options for the scale and mix of future proposals on a number of 
different sites.  The SPD will provide further detailed guidance in order to 
achieve coherent and comprehensive development within the area and 
ensure the delivery of the necessary new infrastructure and a better mix and 
quality of homes. 
 
The SPD includes clear reference to ensure that investment  at Lower Falinge 
is linked to the wider Rochdale Town Centre regeneration programme. The 
Masterplan was developed in the context of ensuring that investment in this 
location contributes to a stronger and more diverse residential market to 
support the ambitions for the Town Centre.  
 
The SPD will be used by the Council as a material consideration when 
determining future planning applications. 
 
The SPD elaborates upon policies within the Rochdale Core Strategy (2016),  
The SPD will therefore provide further detail on how relevant policies in the 
Local Plan will be applied to the sites and principles for how development of 
the sites would best be taken forward. Notably policy C2 – Focusing on 
regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas, specifically part 7. 
‘Falinge, Spotland and Sparth, Rochdale, where we will improve the 

Page 13



residential environment including new high quality housing where 
opportunities occur’.  
 
The Supplementary Planning Document content  
 
The following is a summary of the content and structure within the SPD: 
 
Introduction, vision, 
purpose and status 
of the SPD and 
relationship to 
previous masterplan 

Explains why the SPD has been produced and how 
it is structured.  It also sets out how this SPD relates 
to the previous masterplanning work in the wider 
area.   

Background, 
planning policy 
framework, relevant 
plans and strategies 

Sets out the broad policy framework that applies to 
the site, highlights the main Local Plan policies and 
relevant key plans and strategies that have informed 
the SPD. 
 

Context  Describes the SPD area and provides a spatial 
portrait of the site. It also looks at the relationship 
with the adjoining areas. 
 

Development 
Principles 

Establishes the principles and parameters to guide 
future development for the next 10-15 years in the 
surrounding area. Specifically looking at: 

 Connectivity and Movement  
 Streets and Public Realm  
 Public open spaces and play provision 
 Non-residential uses and new facilities 
 New and improved homes 

Design Principles Sets out an approach for landowners to follow when 
designing their schemes which will help ensure a 
high standard of design comes forward. Specifically 
looking at: 

 Access and Movement Strategy 
 Streets and Public Realm Strategy 
 Open Spaces and Play Strategy 
 Land Use Strategy 
 Scale and Massing 

Transport and 
Access 

Explains what connections are required within the 
SPD area and how transport issues will be 
considered in policy terms. 
 

Focus areas Sets out four broad areas of focus – each with 
different development considerations and guidance 
suitable for that area. It also sets out principles for 
the form and the types of uses which would be 
permitted within the potential focus areas, such as 
improving and creating new connections and public 
spaces, consideration of some level of clearance 
within areas with long term sustainability issues, 

Page 14



providing a mix of types and styles of homes for the 
community. 
 
The four focus areas are: 

 Abbeydale Road 
 Redcross Road 
 St. Mary’s Gate 
 Future area of focus 

 
Delivery and 
Implementation 

Explains how the development set out in the SPD, 
and the infrastructure that is needed to support it, will 
be secured and delivered.   

 
Public Consultation 
 
Rochdale North Township considered the draft SPD at its meeting on 10 
February 2021 and approved it for consultation.  
 
The draft SPD was subject to consultation in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and the requirements of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
The consultation period commenced on 12 February 2021 for six weeks and 
closed on the 26 March 2021.  The consultation process included: 
 
a. Notifying all the consultees on the Council’s Local Plans database who 
have indicated they are interested in Planning Policy consultations; 
b. Publishing the Draft SPD and details of the consultation on the Council’s 
website, including the relevant supporting documents; and 
c. Social media coverage, both by the Council and RBH, throughout the 
consultation period 
 
The actions outlined above met and exceeded the statutory requirements for 
consultation on a draft SPD, having regard to the temporary guidance on 
consultation that is in place as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
Responses to the Consultation 
 
As a result of the consultation arrangements outlined above, there were a total 
of 10 responses to the consultation. The comments form did not specifically 
seek a view on whether or not the respondent supported or objected to the 
plan but instead just sought comments.  Although some respondents did 
welcome the SPD there were some comments which raised concerns or 
issues that they wished to see addressed or clarified. 
 
A schedule of the representations received, alongside the Council’s 
responses and proposed amendments can be found in the Statement of 
Consultation. The main issues raised are summarised below along with a brief 
response in italics:  
 

Page 15



Traffic and car parking 
Most of the comments made by residents identified concerns relating to traffic 
through the estate and car parking.  More specifically this included: 

 Concerns of increased traffic along Abbeydale given the reference to 
a ‘boulevard’ within the SPD; 

 Overall concerns regarding increased vehicular movements through 
the estate and related air quality issues;  

 Objections to the proposed parking area in front of the shops on the 
ground floor of  the Thetford block and nuisance that this could cause 
to residents living above these shops; and 

 Concerns relating to loss of car parking for existing residents. 
 
In terms of the first point, it was never the intention that Abbeydale would be 
developed as a primary vehicular link through the estate.  However in order 
to be more clear, text has been added to the SPD within the relevant sections 
to clarify that this ‘boulevard’ is intended as a green boulevard and shared 
space for walking and cycling alongside vehicles that will provide a safe and 
attractive north-south route through the estate.  The SPD makes it clear that 
the Council would not accept proposals that result in ‘rat-running’ through 
residential areas  
 
In responding to more overall concerns relating to traffic, it is considered that 
the movement, transport and access sections within the SPD provide a clear 
focus on creating an environment which delivers safe and welcoming walking 
and cycling routes.  This is an overarching aim made clear within the 
introductory section of the Movement and Access section and therefore will 
be a guiding principle in the development of the estate.  
 
On the issue of car parking in front of the shops this was identified as a 
potential option on one of the plans in the Draft SPD.  However, it has been 
considered that such parking would not be necessary given the existing 
spaces on Spotland Road and taking on board the concerns of residents.  
Consequently, this proposal has been removed from the SPD and deleted on 
the relevant plan. 
 
The last point reflects concerns that although the new development would 
have new parking, the parking for existing residents may be affected.  Whilst 
it is not appropriate to set out specific requirements in respect of car parking 
within the SPD, a paragraph has been added to the end of the Transport and 
Access section to address these concerns.  This added paragraph includes a 
statement that site specific proposals that come forward will need to 
demonstrate that they deliver appropriate levels of car parking to meet the 
needs of existing and future residents  
 
Scale and massing of development 
 
Some of the comments raised concerns in relation to the height of 
development and the impact that could have on local amenity.  Particular 
mention was the reference to 5-storey buildings. 
 
 

Page 16



The SPD states that the higher development and ‘marker buildings’  (up to a 
maximum of five storeys) will be focussed in appropriate locations (e.g. 
development edges) and would be subject to their sensitive design and 
appropriateness alongside the wider development.  This clarification has been 
added to ensure that any new development incorporating up to five storeys is 
located and designed in a way which takes account of the residential amenity 
of existing and new residents.  In addition, text and plans have been amended 
to clarify that the blocks shown seek to reference development edges rather 
that indicate a specific form of development.  
 
 
Open spaces and biodiversity 
 
Natural England (NE) responded to the consultations as a statutory consultee.  
Whilst they did not wish to provide specific comments, they did set out a 
number of issues to consider in relation to the SPD linked to green 
infrastructure and biodiversity. 
 
In addition to the suggestions from NE, there were some resident comments 
in relation to open spaces within the estate, primarily regarding loss of some 
existing open spaces and how new open spaces would be created. 
 
In response to NE suggestions, the SPD was reviewed but it is considered 
that it does include appropriate guidance to ensure that the local area is well 
served by a network of good quality open spaces.  One area that it was 
considered could be strengthened was in relation to biodiversity and text has 
been added in relation to opportunities to enhance biodiversity within the area 
as part of any new development. 
 
In terms of the second point, it is considered that the SPD contains sufficient 
requirements in respect of open space and play provision which is also 
supported by existing policies and SPD’s relating to open space provision in 
new developments. 
  
Listed buildings 
 
Comments were received from Historic England (HE).  Whilst HE generally 
welcomed the overall aims of the SPD, they made reference to the fact that 
there should be reference to the listed Hope Street Chapel and Parsons 
House and the surrounding Victorian buildings within Focus Area 4 – Future 
Area of Focus. 
 
In response, it was considered that there is benefit in referencing these listed 
assets.  Consequently, text has been added to the Focus Are 4 section which 
also notes that any development within this area should have regard to the 
setting of this listed building, including the historic street pattern which 
remains fairly well intact. 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



Other comments 
 
There were some detailed comments that related to specific housing needs 
and circumstances of some residents. This included comments linked to the 
previous consultation that has taken place in the area and the Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EqIA).   
 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) generally supported the SPD but   
submitted a range of comments for consideration and additional text.  Many 
of these were points of clarification and additional detail.  They also made 
comments relating to the delivery of affordable housing across the area.   
 
The comments relating to specific housing needs issues are, in some 
instances, very detailed and cover a number of areas and personal 
experiences that are outside the scope of the SPD which is primarily aimed at 
guiding the physical development of the area.  It is understood that RBH have 
been working with the community in Lower Falinge since late 2016 to shape 
the detail of the regeneration proposals. RBH are working with residents on 
an individual basis to support them to move to a new home which meets their 
needs and rehousing preferences.  
 
Where appropriate, comments made on the EqIA will be passed to the 
relevant officer within the Council for consideration into that wider process.  
 
In terms of the comments made by RBH some changes have been made to 
pick up some issues where this would assist in clarity and provide more 
accurate up to date information. However, some suggested changes are 
considered too detailed for inclusion in the SPD, particularly those that add 
further text in respect of background and context. On the issue of affordable 
housing, some changes have been made to clarify how affordable housing 
will be delivered through the regeneration of the estate.  
 
 
Proposed Amendments 
In light of the representations received and the Council’s response to them 
(summarised in the section above), a number of the amendments have been 
incorporated into a revised SPD.  As noted above full details can be found in 
the ‘Schedule of Comments’ contained within the Statement of Consultation. 
 
In addition to these, some other minor changes have been made to the SPD 
to improve clarity or improve presentation. 
 
It should also be noted that some additional, minor changes to the SPD may 
need to be made before publication to provide clarity, improve grammar, 
spelling corrections and factual changes where needed.  In addition, prior to 
final publication, the SPD may be subject to desktop publishing to improve its 
presentation and/or to update mapping. Any such amendments will not 
change the content, but would be focused on improving the appearance and 
clarity of the document. 
 
 

Page 18



Alternatives considered 
 
If this SPD is not adopted it will undermine a co-ordinated place making 
strategy for Lower Falinge; instead having to deal with this via stand-alone 
planning applications. Proposals for investment and development would 
have to be considered on a piecemeal basis, rehousing residents within the 
local area, close to their existing home and the Town Centre, would become 
challenging, and housing market failure will not be addressed. There is the 
risk that the opportunity for a significant number of new homes within this 
area, adjacent to the Town Centre, is not delivered.  
 

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations 

within this report or for the Council’s involvement in the process at this stage.   
 

Risk and Policy Implications 
 
6. There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this 

report. 
  

Consultation 
 
7. As set out above this document has been the subject of public 

consultation.  If the final SPD is approved, an Adoption Statement will be 
published in line with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.  
 

 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. Lower Falinge Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) 
 
Statement of Consultation 
 
 

Circulated with covering report 

 

For Further Information Contact: Paul Moore, , 
Paul.Moore@Rochdale.Gov.UK 

 

Page 19



 

Lower Falinge 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 

September 2021 
 

 

Page 20



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk  

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), September 2021 
 
Summary 
 

Publication Date September 2021 

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents 

Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

Replaces  

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/A 

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Paul Moore (Head of Planning Services) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) 
Wayne Poole (Principal Planning Officer) 
 

Applies to  

 

Review of Policy 
 

Last Review Date  

Review undertaken by  

Next Review Date  

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

Councillor John 
Blundell 

Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications 

  

Paul Moore Head of Planning   

 

Page 21



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Background ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

3. Context ............................................................................................................................................. 8 

4.    Development Principles………………………………………………………………………………………11 
 
5. Design Principles ........................................................................................................................... 166 

6. Transport and Access .................................................................................................................... 255 

7. Focus Areas ....................................................................................................................................30 

7.1 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road……………………………………………………………………….311 

7.2 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street………………………………………………………………………..333 

7.3 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate…………………………………………………………………………344 

7.4 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus………………………………………………………………….355 

8. Delivery and Implementation ......................................................................................................... 377 

Appendix 1 – Barriers and nodes ............................................................................................................40 

Appendix 2 – Glossary ............................................................................................................................41 

 
 
 

Figures 
 
Figure 1 SPD Boundary           9 
Figure 2 Connectivity and Movement Development Principles      11 
Figure 3 Streets and Public Realm Development Principles       12 
Figure 4 Public Open Space and Play Provision Development Principles     13 
Figure 5 Non-Residential Uses and New Facilities Development Principles    14 
Figure 6 New and Improved Homes Development Principles      15 
Figure 7 SPD Framework Plan          16 
Figure 8 Access and Movement Strategy         17 
Figure 9 Streets and Public Realm Strategy         18 
Figure 10 Open Spaces and Play Strategy         20 
Figure 11 Land Use Strategy           22 
Figure 12 Scale and Massing Strategy         23 
Figure 13 Current Movement Context         26 
Figure 14 Transport Strategy           27 
Figure 15 Focus Areas           30 
Figure 16 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road         31 
Figure 17 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street         33 
Figure 18 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate         34 
Figure 19 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus        35 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 

The regeneration of Lower Falinge represents a strategic priority for the Council to contribute to the delivery 
of new and improved housing offer in the area and capitalise on the development and regeneration within 
Rochdale Town Centre. 
 
Investment in Lower Falinge is an important part of this vision – delivering better homes for residents to live 
in alongside improved working and leisure opportunities in the town centre.   
 
The need for investment in Lower Falinge has been identified in partnership with Rochdale Boroughwide 
Housing (RBH) who have prepared a masterplan for this area and College Bank. RBH are a major 
landowner across Lower Falinge and College Bank. 
 
This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to establish an appropriate framework 
to guide and deliver development by setting out the development, design and accessibility principles, and 
the identification of focus areas where more specific guidance is necessary relating to Lower Falinge 
specifically.  
 

1.2 The Vision 

Future investment in Lower Falinge will build on the strengths of the existing neighbourhood and enhance it 
through improvements to the housing offer including both tenure and type, alongside delivery of supporting 
green infrastructure, public realm, highways upgrades and associated infrastructure as required to support 
housing delivery.  This will be to the benefit of the current community and future residents, the wider 
surroundings, and will support the regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre. 
 
The vision for Lower Falinge includes the delivery of: 

 a better quality and mix of housing choice to meet the needs of the community now and in the 
future;  

 a safe neighbourhood where attractive, energy efficient homes combine with well-proportioned 
streets, open spaces and landscaping to create distinctive and sustainable high-density design 
including new residential development along with the opportunity for some complimentary non-
residential uses, such as community facilities;   

 an accessible neighbourhood with pedestrian and cycle friendly links and routes within and across 
the area and strong connections with the wider surrounding areas including Rochdale Town Centre;   

 high quality public and green spaces which enhance the existing outdoor environment and 
recreational activities for people of all ages; and  

 a neighbourhood which manages the public spaces and creates opportunities for social interaction 
and activities. 

 
 

1.3 Purpose and status of the SPD 

The purpose of this SPD is to provide a framework for delivery of development and investment across 
Lower Falinge. It outlines potential development opportunities within the area including appropriate 
development mix and scale that will be supported across the neighbourhood.  
 
The SPD enshrines and elaborates upon policies within the Rochdale Core Strategy (2016), notably policy 
C2 – Focusing on regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas, specifically part 7. ‘Falinge, 

Page 23



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

Spotland and Sparth, Rochdale, where we will improve the residential environment including new high 
quality housing where opportunities occur’.  
 
The SPD will be used by the Council as a material consideration when determining future planning 
applications. Specifically, it:  
 

 sets out a development vision for the area;  

 provides greater certainty on the uses, form and quality of acceptable development including 
approach to hard and soft (including green) public realm delivery;  

 assists the Council in the assessment of planning applications; and 

 provides a basis for future decision on assembling land to provide certainty, including the potential 
use of Compulsory Purchase Orders where necessary and appropriate. 

 
 

1.4 Relationship between SPD and College Bank and Lower Falinge Spatial Strategy 
Masterplan and Other Supporting Evidence 

 
RBH commissioned Levitt Bernstein and GVA (now Avison Young) in early 2017 to prepare a spatial 
strategy for the College Bank and Lower Falinge neighbourhoods and adjacent areas. The spatial strategy 
masterplan process identified and tested alternative options for investment in College Bank and Lower 
Falinge, to improve the quality and mix of homes, creating places where people want to come and live, and 
maximising the opportunities created from the regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre through better access 
to retail, leisure, transport and jobs.  
 
As majority landowners across College Bank and Lower Falinge, RBH required a masterplan to inform 
future investment decisions across the neighbourhoods.  
 
The Masterplan was developed and informed alongside a programme of significant consultation with the 
local community and local partners.  It identified a range of interventions required to address issues 
identified. This included recommendations in relation to the need to diversify the mix (type and tenure) and 
quality of homes available alongside wider interventions.  
 
These wider interventions included the need for comprehensive supporting investment in the physical 
appearance of the area including quality and design of the public spaces, better access and connectivity 
within the area and to the Town Centre and surrounding areas, and a safer and mixed neighbourhood 
offering a range of community and shopping facilities as amenity to support residents and their quality of 
life.  
 
The masterplan concluded the critical need for the delivery of this programme of investment to support and 
facilitate wider regeneration and contribute positively to housing market improvement across the town 
centre. 
 
To complement and help inform the work instructed by RBH, AECOM were commissioned by Rochdale 
Council to undertake a study to review pedestrian accessibility between the Lower Falinge and College 
Bank area and Rochdale Town Centre, the Educational Quarter and Rochdale Infirmary to the north. The 
study identified a number of issues and opportunities relating to movement between the areas. It 
investigated potential solutions to improve pedestrian connections. Opportunities for intervention were 
established and presented as a number of projects ranging from improved signage, junction improvements, 
pedestrianisation and green routes to traffic management. 
 

Page 24



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

 
It should be noted that although this SPD seeks to build on the College Bank and Lower Falinge Spatial 
Strategy Masterplan it only covers the Lower Falinge area as the initial focus of investment.  This is 
reflected in the SPD boundary plan shown in Figure 1 of this document. It should be noted that this 
boundary extends beyond the RBH masterplan boundary to reflect potential future areas of change outside 
of RBH control. 
 
 
Technical evidence 
 
In preparing this SPD: 

1. Levitt Bernstein provided technical support on design and townscape illustrations. More information 
on the design approach that informed the SPD is provided in the design principles section which can 
be found in Chapter 4   

2. Aecom provided support on the accessibility and movement strategy.  More information on the 
accessibility approach that informed the SPD is provided within the Transport section can be found 
in Chapter 6  

3. GVA (now Avison Young) provided technical support in terms of viability and delivery strategy 
underpinning the College Bank and Lower Falinge masterplan.  More information on phasing and 
delivery can be found in Chapter 8. 

  

Page 25



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

2. Background  

2.1 Policy Context 

 
The document is designed to supplement Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) Policy C2 – Focusing on 
regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas.  It should be read in conjunction with all 
national and local planning policy and guidance documents including those outlined below, and any other 
relevant documents which may emerge during the lifetime of this document as material considerations. 
 

2.2 National Planning Policy Framework 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out national planning policy, providing strategic 
direction on a wide range of planning matters. It is supplemented by Planning Practice Guidance which 
gives further guidance on how policy should be interpreted. 
 
At the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This presumption 
should be reflected in the plan-making process and any associated guidance. The Framework states that 
development should be approved unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of that development.  
 
The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and that planning policies 
and decisions should aim to ensure that development responds to local character and history, reflecting the 
identity of local surroundings and materials; however, authorities should not prevent or discourage 
appropriate innovation. NPPF promotes a good standard of amenity for existing and future occupants of 
land and buildings. 
 
The SPD has been positively prepared. It seeks to regenerate and attract investment into the area and 
wider Rochdale Town Centre, taking forward identified opportunities to meet the housing needs and 
aspirations of the Lower Falinge community both now and in the future. 
 

2.3 Core Strategy (2016) 

Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) is the key element of the development plan for Rochdale and will be used in 
determining planning applications for sites within the Lower Falinge. 
 
Key policy implications are set out in relation to each site identified in this SPD (Section 7) but it will be 
important to consider all the relevant policies of the Core Strategy when preparing site-specific proposals. 
 
The Core Strategy identifies the Falinge as a growth area. Policy C2 specifically relates to the Falinge, 
Spotland and Sparth regeneration area. It sets out key development principles and proposes the following: 

 focus regeneration and the delivery of new homes; and 

 improve the residential environment including new high-quality housing where opportunities occur.  
 

2.4 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

When considering any type of development, relevant SPDs at the time of publication of this document 
include: 

 The Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs); 

 Affordable Housing SPD; 

 Climate Change and Adaptation SPD; 

Page 26



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD; and 

 Biodiversity and Development SPD. 
 

All SPDs are available to view on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
  

Page 27



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

3. Context 

3.1 Description of the Site  

Lower Falinge is located adjacent to Rochdale Town Centre and comprises of approximately 400 homes, 
primarily owned and managed by RBH, a mutual housing society. The original housing offer consisted of 
1no., and 3no. bedroom flats solely. Since 2015, RBH has delivered a number of new family houses and 
bungalows, with more new homes under construction.  
 
The SPD area captures a range of land uses beyond residential accommodation – this includes areas of hard 
standing, car parking, low grade industrial activities (predominantly north of St Marys Gate), retail uses 
including Dunelm Mill and Lidl, a RSPCA centre and areas of informal and formal hardstanding and 
landscaping of varying quality and contribution to the neighbourhood.   
 
There is a cluster of non-residential units running along Spotland Road which includes a mix of independent 
shops, employment uses, restaurants and takeaways. 
 
Through the RBH spatial strategy masterplanning process, Lower Falinge has been recognised as needing 
significant investment in order to provide existing and future residents with a better-quality homes, more 
housing choice and a better quality of life and wellbeing. 
 
Overall, there is a low level of satisfaction living in the homes within Lower Falinge by residents and few 
people want to move into or remain within the area. There are a significant number of long-term empty 
homes in the neighbourhood and homes used as short-term temporary accommodation. 
 
In addition, Lower Falinge is identified to be physically disconnected from the town centre and surrounding 
areas.  
 
Whilst the area has been impacted historically by damaging media coverage, more recently investment by 
RBH with funding from Homes England has delivered new affordable homes of a high quality design to 
improve the existing offer in the area, as the first phase of delivery under the College Bank and Lower 
Falinge Spatial Strategy Masterplan.  
 

3.2 SPD Boundary 

The area covered by this SPD is broadly contained between Whitworth Road to the east, St. Mary’s Gate to 
the south, Spotland Road and Sheriff Street to the west and Falinge Road and Howard Street to the north 
(See Figure 1).   

It comprises approximately 17 hectares of land and a significant part of the area consists of RBH owned 
social housing, land and retail premises, plus a number of additional commercial and industrial premises of 
varying nature and quality. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

Figure 1 SPD boundary 

 
 

Page 29



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

3.3 Relationship with Adjoining Areas 

To the immediate south of Lower Falinge over St Marys Gate is Rochdale Town Centre. The Town Centre 
comprises predominantly retail land uses.  It includes Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre which contains 
the main shopping area of Yorkshire Street and is designated as a Primary Shopping Area.  

The Town Centre is the subject of a comprehensive and exciting regeneration programme which will 
include diversification to include housing delivery in the future. Development within the SPD area needs to 
enhance, complement and support the Town Centre ambitions. As a minimum it should ensure housing 
market failure is addressed and deliver excellent pedestrian and visual linkages between the two areas to 
create a fully integrated town centre. The Town Centre currently captures a range of non-residential uses 
including the Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre.  

The area north of the SPD area forms an important link between the wider residential area and primary care 
service at Rochdale Infirmary, which supports health and social care delivery across the Borough which it 
serves.  A key opportunity for the SPD is to improve links to Rochdale Infirmary ensuring it is well related to 
and easily accessible across the site and to and from the town centre. 
 
The College and Sixth Form College is located to the south of College Bank.  The links between the SPD 
area and the College need to be enhanced to seek to ensure accessibility and the ongoing success of the 
College as a community asset. 
 
Falinge Park to the north of the SPD area is a Victorian Park, close to Rochdale Town Centre. Its main 
features include the façade of Falinge Hall and the Mawson designed formal gardens, which are 
complemented by the restored bandstand.  There are facilities for all ages, from the great play facilities to 
the bowling greens.  This area is an important link to Lower Falinge and pedestrian routes should be 
enhanced.  Any development must complement and enhance these unique assets. 
  

Page 30



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

4. Development Principles 

The SPD establishes the principles and parameters to guide future development for the next 10-15 years 
and beyond within Lower Falinge. Through delivery of the SPD we will ensure a thriving, vibrant and 
sustainable community in Lower Falinge.   
 
In order to achieve this, the SPD will seek to efficiently use land, provide a better quality and variety of 
housing by type and tenure, good and environmentally sensitive design, improvement to public open space 
and public realm and access to employment and job opportunities, community facilities and local services. 
The SPD places strong emphasis on the following:  
 
 

4.1 Connectivity and Movement  

Lower Falinge is well located in close proximity to Rochdale Town Centre; however, its connectivity to the 
Town Centre and wider infrastructure such as parks, green spaces, surrounding neighbourhoods and local 
facilities is poor. Connections between the two should be enhanced. Central to achieving this will be 
improving crossing points along St. Mary’s Gate into the Town Centre, improving key junctions such as 
Sheriff Street and Falinge Road, Sheriff Street and Spotland Road; and creating green links to Falinge Park 
to the north, Primrose Street Recreation Ground to the west and Rochdale Memorial Gardens to the south.  
 
St. Mary’s Gate acts as a major physical barrier between Lower Falinge and the Town Centre, with large 
volumes of traffic and poor crossing points making access over the road difficult. Strategies relating to the 
improvement of St. Mary’s Gate will be considered in parallel to future development proposals in Lower 
Falinge by Rochdale Borough Council.  
 
Figure 2 Connectivity and Movement Development Principle 

 

 

Page 31



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 12 

 

4.2 Streets and Public Realm  

Safer streets should be designed, with improved crossings, wider pavements, cycle provision and traffic 
calming measures in place where appropriate.  This will help to improve pedestrian and cyclist movement 
within the neighbourhoods and surrounding area. Streets should have residential or non-residential uses 
fronting on to them in order to activate the streets and improve safety for the street user. High quality public 
realm interventions should be considered and used where possible, for example shared surfaces, public 
squares, street trees, green buffers to busy roads, improved footpaths, seating and clear areas of 
defensible space or private front gardens.  
 
Figure 3 Streets and Public Realm Development Principle 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 32



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 13 

4.3 Public open space and play provision 

New development should maintain and enhance existing open space provision, and, where possible, create 
new inclusive spaces for leisure, recreation and play for a variety of age and social groups. Landscape 
proposals should be integrated within the spatial strategy where appropriate and help to tie in and connect 
the streets, public realm, homes and facilities. 
  
Figure 4 Public Open Space and Play Provision Development Principle 

 

 
 

4.4 Non-residential uses and new facilities 

There is scope to incorporate a variety of non-residential facilities into new development such as small-
scale convenience retail units which complement the existing offer in the Town Centre, strengthen key 

Page 33



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 14 

frontages including St Mary’s Gate and provide important service function for residents, or other facilities 
such as community spaces, small local businesses or educational uses.  
 
Figure 5 Non-Residential Uses and New Facilities Development Principle 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 15 

4.5 New and improved homes  

Where existing homes are retained, redevelopment should encourage repairs to these buildings to improve 
the quality of the homes and the type of public and open spaces.  In the case of new homes being 
proposed, a suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types should be developed in order to meet local needs over 
the long term and create a sustainable community. 
 
Figure 6 New and Improved Homes Development Principle 

 
 

 
  

Page 35



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 16 

5. Design Principles  

It is one of the main aims of this SPD to address the key issues faced within Lower Falinge and ensure that 
new development is of the highest possible quality. This section sets out key principles for urban design 
and public realm for future development proposals across the Lower Falinge neighbourhood.  
 
Figure 7 SPD Framework Plan 

 
 
 
Access and Movement Strategy 
 
An inclusive and legible movement network should be delivered through a well-defined hierarchy of streets, 
and safe and welcoming pedestrian and cycle routes across Lower Falinge.  
 
The SPD access and movement strategy aims to create an interconnected network of streets and public 
spaces, improving the integration of Lower Falinge with surrounding areas.  
 
It seeks to arrange and align new routes first and foremost for ease of walking and cycling and create a 
strong connection with surrounding areas (especially the Town Centre). 
 

Page 36



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 17 

Figure 8 Access and Movement Strategy 

 
 
The SPD requires:  

 

1. Creation of traffic calmed and greened routes, attractive to pedestrians and cyclists through Lower 
Falinge including connections to Rochdale Infirmary, Falinge Park and to other areas of open space to 
the south west.  

2. Creation of strong pedestrian and cycle links through Lower Falinge that connect to the Town Centre, 
Lidl supermarket, a new proposed green space and Falinge Park, seeking to reinstate the lost link 
between Toad Lane and the Town Centre.  

3. Provision of a pedestrian and cycle connection linking Spotland Road, College Bank, ASDA, Hopwood 
Hall College, Broadfield Park, Exchange Shopping Centre and Rochdale Interchange. 

4. Creation of an easily navigable connection between the Town Centre and Rochdale Infirmary. 
5. Improvements to Sheriff Street to address any impacts identified as a result of individual planning 

applications and proposals that are progressed.  
6. Creation of legible east to west routes to allow easy movement between residential areas to the west 

and the retail park directly to the east of Lower Falinge.  
7. Introduction of strong frontage onto St Mary’s Gate to activate this busy route. A tree lined green buffer 

along the busy route could provide wider pavements for cyclists and pedestrians.   
8. Delivery of safe and easy to use pedestrian crossing points across St. Mary’s Gate. 

Page 37



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 18 

Streets and Public Realm Strategy 
 
The SPD aims to create attractive streets and spaces that encourage more people to use them often and 
for a long time, and reduce the emphasis placed on the use and accommodation of motor vehicles.  
 
The SPD prioritises the safety and ease of use for pedestrians and users of all abilities to move about and 
recognises the role that different streets and green areas have to the creation of this quality and accessible 
environment.  
 
This will promote more sustainable and healthier lifestyles and make the area a vibrant and welcoming 
place. 
 
Figure 9 Streets and Public Realm Strategy 

 

 
 
The SPD requires:  
 
1. Streets designed to improve safety and the feeling of security in the neighbourhoods. 
2. Streets that are designed to improve accessibility for pedestrians and non-vehicular users of all ages and 
abilities.  
3. Creation of a welcoming and outward looking sense of place.  

Page 38



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 19 

4. Delivery of a series of connected public spaces and well overlooked streets that form part of the public 
realm network and enhance the sense of place and sense of community.  
5. Creation of safe environments through the careful design of buildings to allow for natural surveillance and 
eyes on the street.  
6. Safer and more attractive streets that better connect Lower Falinge to the Town Centre and adjoining 
communities and facilities designed to not only minimise opportunities for crime but also promote a greater 
pedestrian and cycling culture which will promote healthier lifestyles, including along Abbeydale Road. 
7. A pedestrian and cycle focussed public realm that should strengthen the existing street grid in order to 
make movement within and through the area simple and enjoyable. 
8. Incorporation of focal points for the local community and social activities within the street grid. 
9. Carefully planned car parking provision to avoid large areas of parking along streets and sterilised 
spaces in this highly sustainable location.  
 
  

Page 39



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 20 

Open Spaces and Play Strategy 
 
The SPD aspires to a high quality, accessible network of clean, safe and attractive open spaces across 
Lower Falinge that will allow people to improve their health and well-being through recreation and sport.  
This should include a well-balanced provision of high quality multi-functional open space that is easily 
accessible and sustainably managed which encourages a sense of belonging and enhances the quality of 
life of residents.  The creation of open spaces also offers the opportunity to deliver areas of biodiversity 
value that will contribute to meeting the biodiversity net gain within new development. 
 
Figure 10 Open Spaces and Play Strategy 

 
The SPD requires: 
 
1. Improved public and green spaces that enhance the existing outdoor environment and create an inviting, 
safe and healthy environment for all.  
2. Opportunities for local residents to take ownership of and be involved in the management of areas of 
public space where it is appropriate and sustainable in the long term. 
3. Creation of spaces to provide a range of recreational activities for people of all ages and particularly for 
young people. This range of activities could also include opportunities for local food growing on appropriate 
sites. 
4. Delivery of play facilities that are safe, attractive and useful to a range of different user groups including 
variety of age and abilities and encourage inter-generational activity. 

Page 40



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 21 

5. Delivery of biodiversity net gain across the SPD area through the creation of well-designed green spaces 
and other measures (e.g. bat and bird boxes) to increase biodiversity value. 
6. All open spaces to be safe, be well overlooked and be easily accessible. 

Page 41



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 22 

Land Use Strategy 
 
The SPD land use strategy seeks to ensure a sustainable housing market which can support Rochdale 
Town Centre’s regeneration, with a focus on housing delivery alongside convenience retailing to support 
the day-to-day needs of residents.  
 
Figure 11 Land Use Strategy 

 
 
The SPD requires: 
 
1. Delivery of a sustainable residential housing market across the Lower Falinge area. 
2. A mix of uses including community uses (public and private sector), convenience retail, childcare 
facilities, and/or educational- training facilities which could be provided at key activity hubs and gateways 
along St Mary’s Gate to support and enhance the residential community here and in neighbouring areas. 
3. The enhancement of the existing shopping parade at junction of Sheriff Street and Spotland Road to 
better serve a growing residential community.  
4. The sensitive use of building heights to strengthen key routes and key locations across the 
neighbourhood, whilst respecting the wider residential scale across existing adjacent neighbourhoods. 
  

Page 42



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 23 

Scale and Massing 
 
The SPD building heights strategy respects its wider context and has regard to the local housing market 
and housing need in advocating a generally low-medium rise area that shifts in scale and building typology 
to key frontages. The average height across Lower Falinge will be 2-4 storeys and up to 3-5 storeys on the 
development edges in key locations. Some marker buildings could be located as landmarks on the urban 
landscape, subject to their sensitive design and appropriateness alongside wider development and 
investment – but to a maximum of 5 storeys. Higher density development will be supported where it does 
not undermine meeting housing need within the area. 
 
Figure 12 Scale and Massing Strategy 

 
 
The SPD requires: 
 
1. Refurbished homes and new homes in Lower Falinge to improve the range and quality of homes on offer. 
2. A suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types should be developed to meet local needs and create a 
sustainable community, specifically addressing current exposure to mono-type (flats) and mono-tenure 
(social rented) opportunities. 
3. Zones indicating 2-4 storey development should primarily comprise of 2- 3 storey town house 
development with strategic locations for 4 storey corner blocks which could be flatted accommodation. 
4. Zones indicating 3-5 storey development should primarily comprise of 3-4 storey development with 
strategic locations for additional height (indicated on the plan above), including areas where there is 

Page 43



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 24 

underlying landform and low topography, or architectural moments at landmark corners.  These zones 
could be flatted blocks or mixed-use development with ground floor areas allocated to non-residential uses 
where such uses would be appropriate.  

Page 44



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 25 

6. Transport and Access  

This section contains a summary of the main transport issues affecting the SPD area. This includes 
identification of particular issues that will need to be taken into account when considering future 
development across Lower Falinge.  
 
Figure 13 provides a context for current movement to and through the area, including key barriers to 
movement (a description of the barriers is set out in Appendix 2). 
 
The overall objective of the movement strategy for the SPD as set out in Section 4 above is to enable 
pedestrians, people with impaired mobility and cyclists to have better connectivity within and adjoining the 
surrounding area including Rochdale Town Centre.  Across the SPD area, there is a lack of facilities for 
pedestrians and priority is given to motorised traffic. This reduces choice and channels pedestrians to 
crossing locations that may be less than conveniently located for their particular journey. 

Page 45



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 26 

 

Figure 13 Current Movement Context 

 
 
The SPD notes the following key issues in relation to movement, connectivity and access in the area: 
 

 Issues with lack of ease, safety and quality of access perceived as a significant problem for 
pedestrians, cyclists, and disabled needs with a lack of permeability; 

 Important pedestrian routes for the residents of Lower Falinge are along Spotland Road and across 
St. Mary’s Gate to access the Town Centre, although connection to the Town Centre from the 
College Bank area is via an underpass which is closed during the evenings with concerns noted 
generally as to its safety. 

 Other pedestrian routes across the area generally connect poorly to open spaces including Falinge 
Park and Broadfield Park. 

Page 46



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 27 

 Vehicular movement and high volumes of traffic dominate the roads surrounding Lower Falinge. St 
Mary’s Gate is the key route connecting Rochdale into the wider area and towards Manchester City 
Centre. Spotland Road and Sheriff Street are also characterised by fast and high volumes of traffic 
particularly at rush hour, causing high levels of congestion at key junctions including at Falinge 
Road and Sheriff Street. 

 Lack of crossing facilities along St Mary’s Gate encourages pedestrians to cross at random 
locations, placing them in live traffic and which can be difficult and dangerous to cross. 

 
Figure 14 illustrates the proposed transport strategy for the SPD area including linkages to adjoining areas.    
 
Figure 14 Transport Strategy 

 
 
 
 
The SPD identifies the following key transport improvement projects for the area: 
 

I. Spotland Road and St Mary’s Gate junction - This junction is a significant node on the local 
area highway network and therefore any modifications to its operation need to be carefully 
considered. There are no pedestrian crossing facilities provided at road level as there is a 
pedestrian underpass; however, the route is indirect and not very desirable. It is proposed that 

Page 47



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 28 

the whole junction is redesigned and reconfigured to take into account some of the following 
options: 

 Pedestrian facilities; 

 Junction re-design; and 

 Underpass upgrade. 
 

II. Pedestrian Priority Routes through the neighbourhood - Two key routes have been 
identified shown in the map below, that run through the SPD area. 

 Falinge Park to Town Centre via Toad Lane 

 Infirmary to Town Centre via Redcross Street 
 
Providing clearly defined continuous routes through the neighbourhood will encourage 
movement to and through the study area, thereby improving permeability and providing better 
connections between key local attractors and the Town Centre. 
 
It is important that the routes are clear to pedestrians and therefore guiding pedestrians along 
them using elements such as wayfinding signs and providing pedestrian crossings on desire 
lines are vital to their success. The provisions of footpaths with good quality level surfaces that 
are of sufficient width are also necessary to encourage use. 
 

III. Footpaths alongside St Mary’s Gate from College Road to Whitworth Road – There are no 
existing provisions for pedestrians alongside the west side of St Mary’s Gate from its junction 
with College Road up to its junction with Whitworth Road which is a distance of nearly 700m. 
Consideration has therefore been given to providing suitable pedestrian facilities along this 
length including: 

 Footway from College Road to Spotland Road; and 

 Footway from Spotland Road to Whitworth Road. 
 

IV. Traffic management - The area around Redcross Street would benefit from a reconfiguration of 
existing streets that would deliver improvements for pedestrians, giving them priority whilst still 
allowing access for businesses. The changes would seek to discourage through traffic and 
reduce traffic speeds. 
 

V. Redcross Street junction with St Mary’s Gate - there is a clear desire line and high demand 
for pedestrians crossing at this junction where there are currently no pedestrian facilities. A 
staggered pedestrian crossing could be provided at this location; however, this layout would 
require the closure of the gap in the central reservation on St Mary’s Gate that currently allows 
right turning traffic.  The closure of the gap could also help to reduce the number of vehicles rat 
running through the Redcross Street area but would obviously have other potential impacts on 
vehicle movements as a result of the re-distributed trips. 
 

 
VI. Car parking provision – The SPD does not set out any specific requirements in respect of car 

parking provision across the area.  Site-specific proposals that come forward will need to 
demonstrate that they deliver appropriate levels of car parking to meet the needs of existing and 
future residents.  Car parking should be located and designed in such a way to avoid car-
dominated streets and deliver attractive residential environments. 
 

In addition, the following describe a range of pedestrian facilities that should be considered for inclusion as 
part of any development proposal or planning application.  We have focussed on those facilities or 

Page 48



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 29 

improvements that will enhance and complement the other component parts of the plan, providing a safe 
and legible network and supporting the high-level aims of the improvements: 
 

 Green route/Streets for All; 

 Way finding signs; 

 Controlled Crossings, including Zebra, Puffin and Toucan crossings; 

 Traffic Management measures including traffic calming, speed tables, speed cushions, priority 
chicane’s, road narrowing, one-way traffic management and road closures; 

 Uncontrolled crossings such as pedestrian refuge island, kerb buildouts, flat top road hump; 

 Speed limits; 

 Cycle facilities; 

 Bridges; and  

 Elevated walkways. 
  

Page 49



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 30 

 

7. Focus Areas 

Proposals for development in Lower Falinge identified in this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
should take account of the vison for the area, development, design and transport principles detailed in 
earlier sections of this SPD, and the area specific information set out below by identified ‘focus area’ (see 
map below for all focus areas).   
 
The focus areas are not rigidly defined for development and do not imply that the SPD requires separate 
developments for these areas.  Rather, development within the whole SPD area should be undertaken in a 
co-ordinated manner paying regard to all the guidance in this SPD, in order to deliver a well-planned and 
designed, coherent, interconnected and integrated development that delivers the regeneration of the area 
and its wider context. Consequently, the plans are not intended to imply a specific layout but rather are 
intended to show the importance of strong and active frontages to the surrounding road network. 
 
Figure 15 Focus Areas 

 

 
 

Page 50



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 31 

7.1 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road 

The Abbeydale Road area within Lower Falinge is a residential area that is predominantly made up of deck 
access blocks of flats with some garage provision to its western edge.  There is poor pedestrian 
permeability through the site and the area suffers from streets that are dominated by fast moving traffic.  
Abbeydale Road currently runs south from Falinge Road providing access to flat blocks but does not 
provide access through to Spotland Road which results in Sheriff Street being overused. 
 
 
Figure 16 Abbeydale Road 

 
 
Extending and improving the existing route of Abbeydale Road as part of development proposals, to create 
a new active travel and green link through to Spotland Road which offers the opportunity to: 

 Improve the pedestrian crossing environment and experience where Abbeydale Road approaches 
Spotland Road; 

 develop a strong north / south link through the site; 

 create a green, tree lined route with wider pavements, designated cycle routes and a landscape 
buffer at the road edge;  

 develop a new public open greenspace at the heart of the community that is easily accessed and a 
safe space; and 

 improve pedestrian crossings on Sheriff Street and Falinge Road and links with Falinge Park. 

Page 51



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 32 

 
Subject to whether the need is identified through future proposals and as part of the planning process, 
making improvements to Sheriff Street could increase road safety, improve the pedestrian environment 
and improve movement in the area.  This could be done, subject to testing through the planning process, 
by: 
 

 narrowing Sheriff Street as a traffic calming measure to increase the safety of the environment; 

 creating wider, tree lined pavements and dedicated cycle lanes to enhance the pedestrian 
environment; 

 locating three storey homes along the length of the street to create a strong frontage; and/or 

 focusing good quality urban design at key gateways with Sheriff Street. Falinge Road and Spotland 
Road. 

 
Any proposed interventions in Abbeydale Road and Spotland Road must be considered in combination. 
The Council will not accept proposals that result in ‘rat-running’ through residential areas.  
 
Specific existing blocks of flats are identified in the Masterplan as being most suitable for clearance to 
create a redevelopment site for new residential development.  The following should be taken into account 
when considering any future development proposals: 
 

 large scale clearance offers the opportunity for comprehensive residential redevelopment; 

 new homes should be in a mix of types, tenures and sizes to offer varied accommodation to the 
local community; 

 key gateways and focal points for development where there is the opportunity for increased density 
and massing would be on frontages of Abbeydale Road, Sheriff Street and Falinge Road; 

 Retained blocks, if of high enough quality, offer the opportunity to be further improved and 
refurbished to improve living accommodation. 

  

Page 52



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 33 

7.2 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street 

The Redcross Street area is made up of existing residential properties with some garage uses, a number of 
commerical uses, a children’s nursery, carparking and a cleared former millsite. This area has seen some 
recent residential development by RBH, around Samuel Ashworth Street replacing flat blocks with lower 
density housing development. 
 
 
Figure 17 Redcross Street 

 
 
The Redcross Street area as a whole offers the potential for residential redevelopment to: 

 provide a mix of types and styles of homes for the community; 

 create a stronger more cohesive residential community; 

 improve local street connections and access throughout the area; 

 bring underused and poor quality uses in to use to create more successful residential uses; 

 create a strong frontage with high quality and high-density development along Howard Street to the 
north; and 

 create a safer more pedestrian friendly environment throughout. 
 

Page 53



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 34 

7.3 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate 

St Mary’s Gate is a dual carriageway running to the northern edge of Rochdale Town Centre dividing it from 
Lower Falinge.  The road has existing underpasses which provide pedestrian access across it however 
these are consider in poor condition and unsafe.  The existing frontage with St Mary’s Gate is weak and the 
pedestrian environment poor. 
 
 
Figure 18 St Mary’s Gate 

 
 
 
Along St Mary’s Gate there is the opportunity to: 
 

 improve crossing opportunities for pedestrians using new at grade crossings; 

 set buildings back from the road to create a wider space for pedestrians, cyclists and to allow a 
green buffer between the road and non-car users; 

 create a strong frontage along both sides of the road with good quality design and uses directly 
fronting it; 

 locate non-residential uses at ground floor level of new buildings which could be appropriate for 
small retail, community and educational uses; 

 have high-density residential uses along the frontage where possible; and enhance lighting and 
quality public realm to create a safer and more attractive street scene. 

Page 54



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 35 

 
7.4 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus 

This area is presently formed by a number of uses including retail uses, car park, Nursery and Children’s 
Centre and interspersed with some residential blocks.  This creates a poor quality environment that does 
not benefit either of the current uses. The lack of any direct access means that it currently acts as a 
negative barrier instead of being the positive feature that it should be. In addition, the area can feel unsafe 
particularly after dark due to the lack of activity. 
 
The fragmented nature of the area means it lacks focus in terms of uses and activity. These issues combine 
to create an overall impression of an unattractive, inaccessible and unappealing area at a key junction on a 
prominent, edge of town centre site. 
 
Figure 19 Future Area of Focus 

 
 
 
This area forms an important link between the wider largely residential area of Redcross Street and Lower 
Falinge to the west that has a large population, providing a substantial walk in catchment population, close 
to Rochdale Town Centre.  It is important that any development within the SPD area, specifically in this 
area, promotes and enhances the pedestrian, land use and visual and physical linkages.  
It is important that pedestrian linkages within this area and the SPD area are improved and ways explored 
to ensure that development in the SPD area enhances the future prospects for this part of the SPD area. 
 

Page 55



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 36 

This area also includes the Grade 11* listed Hope Street Chapel and Parsons House which is surrounded 
by a small group of Victorian buildings that are remnants of communities that predate much of the 
surrounding development.  Any development within this area should have regard to the setting of this listed 
building, including the historic street pattern which remains fairly well intact. 
 
No major development is proposed within this area at present.  In addition to the current uses found within 
the area, other appropriate uses may include car parking, offices and housing. 
 
Townhead is a significant junction and gateway into the town centre and the Council will continue to seek 
and support proposals that assist in the regeneration of the area.  

Page 56



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 37 

 

8. Delivery and Implementation 

Introduction 
The need for a robust and coherent delivery strategy for Lower Falinge has been a core principle running 
throughout the RBH Masterplanning process which underpins this SPD. This has included but is not limited 
to: a realistic and sound understanding of market aspirations and potential for change and investment, 
integrated feasibility and viability analysis which seeks to maximise public and private sector funding 
streams, and the need for land assembly to deliver the identified regeneration opportunity.  
 
It is recognised that the Lower Falinge neighbourhood is not just a regeneration area but are people’s 
homes and the Council and its partners will ensure that, as well as it providing the best possible form of 
development to achieve the vision set out in this SPD, it is entirely realistic and deliverable. It is also 
recognised that Lower Falinge has a strategic relationship to the wider regeneration plans for Rochdale 
Town Centre – this SPD will positively impact the housing and wider commercial markets in the area which 
will contribute to the ambitions for Rochdale Town Centre. 
 
This SPD is a key component of the delivery strategy underpinning the Masterplan. This section provides 
further guidance around the approach to delivery, and sets out requirements for any future planning 
applications in the area. 
 
Market Demand Considerations 
Existing housing supply within the SPD area is heavily skewed towards flats and almost exclusively social 
rented in nature under the ownership of RBH.  
 
Without the presence of the Registered Provider, RBH, and its associated tenants this is an area which 
would demonstrate traditional signs of market failure – limited choice within the housing offer, disconnected 
neighbourhoods and public realm issues, declining conditions within the housing stock, and low values. 
This has a knock-on effect to the wider housing market within the town centre fringe and town centre itself, 
impacting on the scale and nature of investment that can and will be attracted to the area. 
 
Where development potential exists on under-utilised sites within the SPD boundary, viability is a significant 
barrier to delivery. Based on local house price data, quality residential development is not currently viable 
within the area. The Lower Falinge and College Bank Masterplan seeks to address viability over the long 
term through the comprehensive delivery of development and investment to create demand and establish 
new residential market and value benchmarks.  
 
The Council’s latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Draft, 2015) supports a need for the increased 
delivery of family houses sized 2-bedrooms and above to meet emerging need. In addition there is a 
recognised need to deliver a housing product within the SPD area to facilitate re-housing existing residents 
to release sites for development. There is also an identified need for a specialist older persons housing.  
 
Soft market testing undertaken with a number of national and regional regeneration housebuilders and 
contractors undertaken through the RBH Masterplanning process supported the view that there is a strong 
and continued interest in investing within the SPD area if change can be delivered comprehensively. 
 
Delivery Approach 
Rochdale Council working alongside RBH as a major landowner and interested party is committed to 
delivering the regeneration of the SPD area in partnership with the private sector. Where it is identified to be 
necessary, the Council is willing to use its statutory powers (including Compulsory Purchase Orders) to 
facilitate the holistic and comprehensive delivery of development and investment across the whole area. 
 

Page 57



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 38 

The SPD seeks the comprehensive regeneration of the area captured within its boundary. Working 
alongside RBH it is intended that investment will be delivered through the procurement of a developer 
partner, and progression of a strategic outline planning application for the whole area.  
 
Any development proposals promoted outside of this structure by individual landowners or interested 
parties will be required to demonstrate that they facilitate and contribute to the delivery of the wider 
regeneration objectives set out in this SPD and the Lower Falinge and College Bank Spatial Strategy 
Masterplan, and do not in any way prejudice their delivery. 
 
Infrastructure and S106 Contributions 
The Council will seek S106 contributions where these are necessary to make individual proposals 
acceptable in planning terms.  
 
Applicants should be aware of the ambitions to deliver improvements along the A58 St Marys Gate corridor 
with detailed design work undertaken by AECOM as a strategic highways priority for the Council, alongside 
the desire to deliver strategic movement and open space provision as part of the masterplan. 
 
Delivery of affordable housing as part of residential developments is an established policy requirement 
across Rochdale. Policy C4 of the Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) requires an affordable housing 
contribution of 7.5% of the development sales value of the overall scheme, with a preference for on-site 
delivery of an affordable product to meet local need. The policy allows for exceptional circumstances where 
off-site contributions will be accepted.  
 
Notwithstanding identified local need for affordable housing provision across Rochdale, this SPD 
recognises the need to diversify housing supply within Lower Falinge – being almost exclusively affordable 
in nature at the time of adoption. It is recognised that the delivery of market housing within this area is 
required to deliver this diversification and to ensure the sustainability of retained affordable housing in the 
area – with only partial clearance of the existing estates proposed.  
 
The SPD requires a clear and robust strategy around the strategic delivery of affordable housing, including 
an intermediate product, which can and should be delivered through future planning applications. This 
should include consideration of retained and improved affordable housing supply, the role for affordable 
supply as part of new developments to contribute to the wider implementation of the masterplan (including 
recognition of the need to re-house residents from redevelopment areas), and/or the contribution that off-
site delivery could make to delivering the overall ambitions of the masterplan. 
 
Given that this SPD covers a large area with multiple phases, some phases may include the delivery of 
higher percentages of affordable housing than others, including 100% affordable schemes.  Therefore, it 
may be appropriate for the local planning authority to enter into an agreement or memorandum of 
understanding with RBH that factors in an approach which considers different levels of provision on 
different phases across the area.  This is necessary as some phases may be appropriate to deliver 100% 
private sale provided that the appropriate level of affordable housing is delivered. 
 
Planning Application Requirements 
This SPD will be a material consideration in any future planning application relating to any site within its 
boundary; accordingly, any planning applications for development within the area will need to be supported 
by sufficient evidence and information to demonstrate they embed appropriate responses to the 
requirements set out within this SPD. This includes the need for justification for and evidence supporting 
any deviations from the requirements set out within the SPD. 
 
The Council has a series of checklists summarising validation requirements associated with different types 
of applications, available at http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-

Page 58

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance


Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 39 

permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance. These checklists should be 
adhered to by all applications to demonstrate that development is appropriate in planning terms. 
 
 
 

Page 59

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance


Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 40 

Appendix 1 – Barriers and nodes 

Barrier Where conditions create obstructions to free movement. 

1.  A58 St Mary’s Gate Dual Carriageway with little or no pedestrian footways along the length 
from the College to Whitworth Road. 

2.  Spotland Road 
A680 

Busy carriageway with high levels of traffic with no formal crossing 
provisions along the length of the road aside from the junction at Sherriff 
St. 

3. Holland Street The road has excessive gradient differences from north side to south. 
Lack of permeability and access for pedestrians. 

4. College Road Narrow one-way service/access road providing access to the garages. 
No footway on north side of road with the exception of one set of poor 
quality steps. 
 

5. Howard Street High traffic volumes and excessive speeds for the road conditions which 
include a tight bend with poor forward visibility. There are no pedestrian 
crossing facilities along any part of the road. 

Nodes Locations where crossing activities currently take place. 

6. College Road 
junction with St 
Mary’s Gate 

Pedestrian facilities across one arm only leading from Newgate to 
College Road. No footway around northwest corner. 

7. St Mary’s Gate 
junction with 
Spotland Road 

No pedestrian crossing facilities at road level and access are restricted 
by guardrail and retaining walls. Pedestrian provision at this junction is 
via a 24hr underpass. Current pedestrian desire path is crossing the 
grass verge. 

8.  Redcross Street 
junction with St 
Mary’s Gate 

Although there are no pedestrian facilities at this location, there is a clear 
desire line and high demand for pedestrians to cross. 

9. Cheetham Street 
underpass 

Only formal pedestrian crossing of St Mary’s Gate between Whitworth 
Road and Spotland Road. 
 

10. St Mary’s Gate 
junction with 
Whitworth Road 

No public footpath access to the junction from Spotland Road. Access is 
only possible by crossing the retail car parks. 

11. Howard Street 
junction with Rope 
Street 

Uncontrolled crossings and traffic islands with very narrow and poor 
quality footways from the infirmary to the Town Centre 

12. Sherriff Street 
Roundabout 

Mini roundabout that has dropped crossings but no tactile paving. Busy 
junction but limited safe opportunities to cross to access Falinge Park, 
School, Infirmary or the Town Centre. 

13. Spotland Road 
junction with Sheriff 
Street 

Signal controlled junction with pedestrian facilities Despite the provision 
many pedestrians choose to cross away from the junction indicating 
desire lines are present to other destinations. 

14. Spotland Road 
pedestrian crossing 

Existing controlled pedestrian crossing facility near the junction of 
Mitchell Street. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 41 

Appendix 2 – Glossary  

Active frontages - Active frontages are building elevations that have frequent doors and windows, 
with few blank walls, internal uses visible from the outside, or spilling onto the street. 
Adaptability - The capacity of a building or space to be changed so as to respond to changing 
social, technological and economic conditions. 
Adoption - This is the process by which a document is formally adopted, and will form one of 
the Council’s statutory Local Development Documents. 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) - An annual monitoring report measures the delivery of policies 
and their performance against objectives and targets. 
Building line - The line formed by the frontages of buildings along a street. The building line can 
be shown on a plan or section. 
Bulk - The combined effect of the arrangement, volume and shape of a building or group of 
buildings. Also called massing. 
Context - The area surrounding a development site. This may be the immediate local area (the 
site context), or a much wider town-wide context (the strategic context). 
Community Strategy - An overarching local strategy for the future of the Borough, outlining 
actions towards environmental, economic and social well-being. All Council policies and strategies 
must comply with the Community Strategy. 
Conformity (e.g. Chain of Conformity) - This indicates the different weights of documents and 
how they are informed by other documents. 
Core Strategy - A key Development Plan Document which sets out the long term spatial vision for 
Rochdale. It outlines the spatial objectives and strategic policies required to deliver that vision. 
Definition of streets - Enclosing the edges of streets with buildings and, sometimes, landscape so 
that they are clearly defined spaces. 
Desire Lines - An imaginary line linking facilities or places, which would form a convenient and 
direct route for pedestrians and cyclists. 
Development - The carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operation in, on, over or 
under land, or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or land. 
Development Management (Generic Policies) - The control of development by the local planning 
authority through the consideration/determination of planning applications. These criteria-based 
policies ensure that all development within Rochdale will meet the spatial vision and objectives set 
out in the Core Strategy. 
Development Plan Document (DPD) - Any document that includes policies, proposals or 
allocations and has been prepared and adopted under the statutory development plan procedures. 
These documents are: the Core Strategy; Area Action Plans; Site Specific Allocations and the 
Proposals Map. All DPDs are subject to independent examination. 
Diversity - The range of different activities, uses and building types in an area. 
Evidence Base - Various national, regional, sub-regional and local strategies and statistical data 
which are used to as a basis for writing policies in the Local Development Framework. 
Footfall - A way of describing the number of pedestrians using a route. For example, busy 
shopping streets will have a high footfall, whereas a residential cul-de-sac will have a low footfall. 
In-curtilage parking - Parking within a building’s site boundary, rather than on a public street or 
space. 
Landmark - A building, structure or space that stands out from its background by virtue of height, 
size or some other aspect of design. 
Large floor-plate - A building type which covers a very large ground floor area. A supermarket is a 
typical example. 
Legibility - The degree to which a place can be easily understood for people trying to find their 
way around. 
Local Development Documents - The documents that make up the Local Development 

Page 61



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 42 

Framework including: Development Plan Documents; Supplementary Planning Documents and the 
Statement of Community Involvement. 
Local Plan Suite of Development Documents which constitute the statutory Development Plan for 
Rochdale Borough. 
Local distinctiveness - The positive features of a place and its communities which contribute to 
its special character and distinguish it from other places. 
Massing - The combined effect of the arrangement, volume and shape of a building or group of 
buildings. Also called bulk. 
Mixed uses - A mix of different uses (for example, retail and residential) within a building, on a site 
or within a particular area. 
Permeability - The characteristic of a well-connected network of streets, spaces and other routes. 
Planning Applications - Process where people apply for permission to carry out 
development/alterations/demolition etc. The application is considered/determined by the Council 
taking into account the policies in the Development Plan. 
Public Realm - Those parts of towns and villages that are available for use by everyone free of 
charge, and include streets, squares, lanes and open spaces. 
Public Consultation - A formal process which invites the public to comment and make 
representation on the Local Development Document, this is a statutory element in the process and 
can take up to 6 weeks. 
Range of tenures - A mix of different types of residential property, including (but not restricted to) 
privately owned, affordable housing, and shared ownership. 
Renewable sources - Renewable sources of materials can be replenished naturally in a short 
period of time. Renewable energy sources capture their energy from ongoing natural processes 
such as sunshine, wind and flowing water. 
Representations - Comments received by Rochdale MBC in response to public consultation on 
documents. 
Scale - The impression of a building when seen in relation to its surroundings, or the size of parts 
of a building or its details, particularly as experienced in relation to the size of a person. Sometimes 
it is the total dimensions of a building which give it its sense of scale; at other times it is the size of 
the individual building elements and the way in which they are combined. The concept is a difficult 
and ambiguous one: often the word is simply used as a synonym for ‘size’. 
Stakeholder - Anyone with an interest in Rochdale’s development. This includes professionals, 
businesses and the whole community. 
Street furniture - Structure in a street or space. For example, bus shelters, light columns, signs, 
seating and litter bins. 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Supplementary Planning Documents provide 
additional detail to Local Development Framework Policies, providing guidance to developers and 
their designers on what is expected of them. If applications for planning do not conform with the 
SPD they may be refused. 
Sustainable Development - Development that simultaneously meets environmental, economic 
and community needs without comprising the needs of future generations. 
Traffic Calming - Traffic management measures designed to reduce the speed of vehicles along 
routes, particularly in residential areas. 
Urban Design - The art of making places. Urban design involves the design of buildings, groups of 
buildings, spaces and landscapes, in villages, towns and cities, and the establishment of 
frameworks and processes which facilitate successful development. 
Urban grain - The pattern of buildings and their plots and how they combine to form blocks within 
a settlement. Urban grain may be ‘fine’, comprising small blocks and frequent street junctions, or it 
may be ‘coarse’, comprising large blocks and infrequent street junctions. This can be related to 
townscapes and streets. 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) - Adopted in 2006, the development plan currently in force for 

Page 62



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 43 

the whole Borough. This Plan will remain valid until replaced by new Development Plan 
Documents. 
 
 
 

Page 63



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 44 
Page 64



Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
September 2021 

rochdale.gov.uk 45 

 
  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Strategic Planning Team 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 924252 

  strategic.planning@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 65



0 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

LOWER FALINGE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT (SPD) 

 
 

 

STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



1 

 

CONTENTS 
 
 Page 
  
1. Introduction 
 
 

2 

2. Participation and consultation  
 

2 

  
3. Advice and Assistance 
 
 

8 

Appendices 9 
 

 
 

Page 67



2 

 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been produced by 

the Council to guide redevelopment of this area. In order to ensure that appropriate 
public consultation takes place, Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are 
required to be accompanied by a statement setting out how the Local Planning 
Authority will comply with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).  

 
1.2 This Consultation Statement has been prepared in line with Regulation 12 (a) of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Order 2012, which states 
that, before a council adopts a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), it must 
produce a statement setting out: 

  i. The persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the 
supplementary document; 
ii. A summary of the main issues raised by those persons; 
iii. How those issues have been addressed in the supplementary document. 

 

1.2 This statement sets out how the public and other stakeholders will be consulted 
upon the SPD. Following the consultation period, this statement will be expanded 
to summarise the comments received during the consultation period, including 
details of how the issues raised have been dealt with in working towards a final 
SPD for adoption.  

 
1.3 This SPD has been produced in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
 

2. PARTICIPATION AND CONSULTATION  
 

Early Consultation  

 
2.1 Lower Falinge has been recognised as needing investment in order to provide the 

tenants and residents with a better mix and quality of homes and better 
opportunities. Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) commissioned Levitt 
Bernstein and GVA (now Avison Young) in early 2017 to produce a Masterplan for 
an area that included Lower Falinge to explore possible options for long term 
investment in the area. 

 
2.2 A Draft SPD for a wider area was produced and consulted on in 2019.  However, 

as a result of comments raised during consultation of the SPD, in respect of part 
of the area covered by that SPD it was decided that the document would be 
amended to remove that area from the document before consultation was 
undertaken on a revised document.  

 
2.3 As such, the Draft SPD now relates to an area principally focussed on the Lower 

Falinge estate and the land to the east up to Whitworth Road.  The boundary on 
the area covered by the SPD is shown on the map within the Draft SPD.   

  
2.4 The RBH Masterplan was subject to consultation with residents, businesses and local 

stakeholders within the area. The public consultation process included the distribution 
of leaflets, letters, surveys, online consultation portal, drop-in sessions and a series of 
workshops in order to introduce various development options. To date there have 

Page 68



3 

 

been a series of public workshops from 2017 to date, attended by the local 
community, stakeholders and Elected Members. These workshops, which have 
helped to inform the key aims and objectives of the neighbourhood and to develop the 
options for future investment.  Although this consultation did include areas that are no 
longer within the SPD boundary, the feedback in relation to Lower Falinge area is still 
considered relevant in terms of this SPD.   

 
2.5 The Masterplan was developed from January - Summer 2017 across three 

workshops, which have helped to inform the key aim and objectives of each 
neighbourhood. There have been a number of workshops since this date and online 
consultations.  

 
Workshop 1 
 

2.6 The first College Bank and Lower Falinge workshops were held on 6th February 
2017. Separate workshops were held for each event, both taking place between 4pm 
and 8pm in their respective venues: the College Bank workshop was held at the 
Mitchell Hey Community Room and the Lower Falinge workshop at the Lower Falinge 
Community Base 238 Newstead. 

 
2.7 The first workshops aimed to gather local resident’s views on what they like and 

dislike about their local area and their homes, and began to explore spatial strategies 
for their neighbourhood. A series of consultation boards were prepared and presented 
containing information about the early design thinking. The boards were designed to 
be interactive, collecting information from local residents and providing topics for 
discussion for each of the three options – see Appendix 1. 

 
2.8 The boards gathered the following information from local residents: 
 

 General thoughts and feelings about their neighbourhood 

 Likes, dislikes, and potential ways in which their local area could be improved 

 What local facilities and services local residents regularly visit 

 How easy or difficult local residents find travelling to these local facilities 

 Local residents thoughts on the initial Repair, Refresh and Re-think options 
 
2.9 In addition to gathering information, the boards also explored why regeneration was 

necessary for the local area, what regeneration would mean for local residents and 
the next steps in the engagement process. 

 
2.10 The results of workshop 1 were taken into account to develop further the three 

potential options in advance of workshop 2. 
 

Workshop 2 
 

2.11 The second Lower Falinge and College Bank workshops were held on the 16th March 
2017. Similar to the first, a series of consultation boards were presented which 
illustrated the three options in more detail. 
 

2.12 The boards (Appendix 2) presented the following information which local residents 
were invited to comment on: 
 

 A summary of findings from the initial workshop. 

 Work being prepared by the RSA in parallel to the spatial strategy. 

Page 69



4 

 

 More progressed versions of the Repair, Refresh and Re-think options. In the 
case of College Bank Re-think consisted of two options illustrating different 
demolition scenarios. The various options included site plans, illustrative street 
perspectives and example images. Each of the options was also accompanied by 
a list of potential benefits and issues. 

 Themed precedent images that covered streets, play spaces, homes, front 
gardens, back gardens and the inside of homes. 

 
2.13 As with the first workshop information was gathered through writing ideas on post-it 

notes and sticking them to the consultation boards, and through feedback forms that 
asked local residents how they felt about each of the three options. This information, 
in addition to the viability studies and soft market analysis, has been fundamental in 
steering the design informing the preferred options. 
 
Workshop 3 
 

2.14 The third rounds of workshops were held on Saturday 24th June 2017. A series of 
boards were prepared (Appendix 3) with information on the preferred option to be 
taken forward into future workshops for each College Bank and Lower Falinge. The 
boards included detail on: 
 

2.15 The options presented at previous workshops and an overview of the feedback 
collected 
 

2.16 The vision and strategic approach for the estates and the wider area. 
 

 3D sketch views of the preferred option giving an indication of typologies and 
massing, and illustrating which blocks could be demolished to make land 
available for new residential units. 

 Example precedent images of what the neighbourhood could look like 

 The support and offer from RBH for residents who would be affected by 
demolition and new build areas. 

 An update on the work being done by the RSA, in parallel with the spatial 
strategy. 

 Information on the next steps and way forward for each estate following this initial 
phase of work. 

 
2.17 Residents were given the opportunity to comment on the proposals and write ideas or 

feedback down on post-it notes. Booklets with the information in were available for 
residents to take away from the event. 
 
Commonplace Online Consultation Portal 
 

2.18 Throughout the period of consultation which ran from February to June 2017, a digital 
platform, Commonplace, was set up for additional engagement with residents. This 
has provided an alternative means to provide opinions and comments for those 
residents who were unable to attend the workshops, or preferred to give feedback 
through this media. The Commonplace site has shown regular updates to the strategy 
plans, with clear explanations for each scenario. A total of 36 residents have 
commented on the web page to date. 

 
2.19 Since the 3 workshops in 2017, RBH have continued the conversation with the 

communities of Lower Falinge and College Bank through a variety of ways, including 
face to face discussions with residents, resident newsletters, weekly drop-in sessions, 

Page 70



5 

 

via social media, surveys, further themed community workshops and through a 
dedicated project website: https://www.collegebankandlowerfalinge.org.uk/  
 
Public Consultation on the Draft SPD 
 

2.20 The draft SPD was subject to consultation in accordance with the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and the requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 
2.21 The consultation period commenced on 12 February 2021 for six weeks and closed 

on the 26 March 2021.  The consultation process included: 
 

a. Notifying all the consultees on the Council’s Local Plans database who have 
indicated they are interested in Planning Policy consultations; 
b. Publishing the Draft SPD and details of the consultation on the Council’s website, 
including the relevant supporting documents; and 
c. Social media coverage, both by the Council and RBH, throughout the consultation 
period 

 
2.22 The actions outlined above met and exceeded the statutory requirements for 

consultation on a draft SPD, having regard to the temporary guidance on consultation 
that is in place as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. 

 
2.23 Elected Members were also consulted on the SPD preparation process.  
 
2.24 In addition to the statutory planning consultees the Council hold a database 

containing contact details of groups and individuals interested in the development of 
our plans, this is used to keep those registered, informed of progress and future 
consultations. People on this database will be consulted. 

 
2.24 On completion of the consultation exercise, the SPD will be revised as required to 

reflect responses. 

 
Responses to the Draft SPD Consultation 

 
2.25 As a result of the consultation arrangements outlined above, there were a total of 10 

responses to the consultation. The comments form did not specifically seek a view on 
whether or not the respondent supported or objected to the plan but instead just 
sought comments.  Although some respondents did welcome the SPD there were 
some comments which raised concerns or issues that they wished to see addressed 
or clarified. 

 
2.26 A schedule of the representations received, alongside the Council’s responses and 

proposed amendments can be found in Appendix 4. The main issues raised are 
summarised below along with a brief response in italics:  

 
Traffic and car parking 
Most of the comments made by residents identified concerns relating to traffic through 
the estate and car parking.  More specifically this included: 

 Concerns of increased traffic along Abbeydale given the reference to a ‘boulevard’ 

within the SPD; 

 Overall concerns regarding increased vehicular movements through the estate 

and related air quality issues;  

Page 71

https://www.collegebankandlowerfalinge.org.uk/


6 

 

 Objections to the proposed parking area in front of the shops on the ground floor 

of  the Thetford block and nuisance that this could cause to residents living above 

these shops; and 

 Concerns relating to loss of car parking for existing residents. 

 
In terms of the first point, it was never the intention that Abbeydale would be 
developed as a primary vehicular link through the estate.  However in order to be 
more clear, text has been added to the SPD within the relevant sections to clarify that 
this ‘boulevard’ is intended as a green boulevard and shared space for walking and 
cycling alongside vehicles that will provide a safe and attractive north-south route 
through the estate.  The SPD makes it clear that the Council would not accept 
proposals that result in ‘rat-running’ through residential areas  

 
In responding to more overall concerns relating to traffic, it is considered that the 
movement, transport and access sections within the SPD provide a clear focus on 
creating an environment which delivers safe and welcoming walking and cycling 
routes.  This is an overarching aim made clear within the introductory section of the 
Movement and Access section and therefore will be a guiding principle in the 
development of the estate.  

 
On the issue of car parking in front of the shops this was identified as a potential 
option on one of the plans in the Draft SPD.  However, it has been considered that 
such parking would not be necessary given the existing spaces on Spotland Road 
and taking on board the concerns of residents.  Consequently, this proposal has been 
removed from the SPD and deleted on the relevant plan. 

 
The last point reflects concerns that although the new development would have new 
parking, the parking for existing residents may be affected.  Whilst it is not appropriate 
to set out specific requirements in respect of car parking within the SPD, a paragraph 
has been added to the end of the Transport and Access section to address these 
concerns.  This added paragraph includes a statement that site specific proposals 
that come forward will need to demonstrate that they deliver appropriate levels of car 
parking to meet the needs of existing and future residents  

 
Scale and massing of development 

 
Some of the comments raised concerns in relation to the height of development and 
the impact that could have on local amenity.  Particular mention was the reference to 
5-storey buildings. 

 
The SPD states that the higher development and ‘marker buildings’  (up to a 
maximum of five storeys) will be focussed in appropriate locations (e.g. development 
edges) and would be subject to their sensitive design and appropriateness alongside 
the wider development.  This clarification has been added to ensure that any new 
development incorporating up to five storeys is located and designed in a way which 
takes account of the residential amenity of existing and new residents.  In addition, 
text and plans have been amended to clarify that the that the blocks shown seek to 
reference development edges rather that indicate a specific form of development.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



7 

 

Open spaces and biodiversity 
 

Natural England (NE) responded to the consultations as a statutory consultee.  Whilst 
they did not wish to provide specific comments, they did set out a number of issues to 
consider in relation to the SPD linked to green infrastructure and biodiversity. 

 
In addition to the suggestions from NE, there were some resident comments in 
relation to open spaces within the estate, primarily regarding loss of some existing 
open spaces and how new open spaces would be created. 

 
In response to NE suggestions, the SPD was reviewed but it is considered that it 
does include appropriate guidance to ensure that the local area is well served by a 
network of good quality open spaces.  One area that it was considered could be 
strengthened was in relation to biodiversity and text has been added in relation to 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity within the area as part of any new development. 

 
In terms of the second point, it is considered that the SPD contains sufficient 
requirements in respect of open space and play provision which is also supported by 
existing policies and SPD’s relating to open space provision in new developments. 

  
Listed buildings 

 
Comments were received from Historic England (HE).  Whilst HE generally welcomed 
the overall aims of the SPD, they made reference to the fact that there should be 
reference to the listed Hope Street Chapel and Parsons House and the surrounding 
Victorian buildings within Focus Area 4 – Future Area of Focus. 

 
In response, it was considered that there is benefit in referencing these listed assets.  
Consequently, text has been added to the Focus Are 4 section which also notes that 
any development within this area should have regard to the setting of this listed 
building, including the historic street pattern which remains fairly well intact. 

 
Other comments 

 
There were some detailed comments that related to specific housing needs and 
circumstances of some residents. This included comments linked to the previous 
consultation that has taken place in the area and the Equalities Impact Assessment 
(EqIA).   

 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) generally supported the SPD but   submitted 
a range of comments for consideration and additional text.  Many of these were points 
of clarification and additional detail.  They also made comments relating to the 
delivery of affordable housing across the area.   

 
The comments relating to specific housing needs issues are, in some instances, very 
detailed and cover a number of areas and personal experiences that are outside the 
scope of the SPD which is primarily aimed at guiding the physical development of the 
area.  It is understood that RBH have been working with the community in Lower 
Falinge since late 2016 to shape the detail of the regeneration proposals. RBH are 
working with residents on an individual basis to support them to move to a new home 
which meets their needs and rehousing preferences.  

 
Where appropriate, comments made on the EqIA will be passed to the relevant officer 
within the Council for consideration into that wider process.  

 

Page 73



8 

 

In terms of the comments made by RBH some changes have been made to pick up 
some issues where this would assist in clarity and provide more accurate up to date 
information. However, some suggested changes are considered too detailed for 
inclusion in the SPD, particularly those that add further text in respect of background 
and context. On the issue of affordable housing, some changes have been made to 
clarify how affordable housing will be delivered through the regeneration of the estate.  
 
Amendments to Draft SPD 
 

2.27 In light of the representations received and the Council’s response to them 
(summarised in the section above), a number of the amendments have been 
incorporated into a revised SPD.  As noted above full details can be found in 
Appendix 4 of the Statement of Consultation. 

 
2.28 In addition to these, some other minor changes have been made to the SPD to 

improve clarity or improve presentation. 
 
2.29 It should also be noted that some additional, minor changes to the SPD may need to 

be made before publication to provide clarity, improve grammar, spelling corrections 
and factual changes where needed.  In addition, prior to final publication, the SPD 
may be subject to desktop publishing to improve its presentation and/or to update 
mapping. Any such amendments will not change the content, but would be focused 
on improving the appearance and clarity of the document. 

 
 
3. ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE 

 
For further information relating to this document please contact: 

 
Strategic Planning Service 
Floor 3 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 

 
Tel: 01706 924252 

        
By email: LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk  

 
Details of opening times are available on the Council website or by telephoning 0300 
303 8876 

Page 74

mailto:LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk


9 

 

APPENDIX 1 – WORKSHOP 1 
 

 

P
age 75



10 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 76



11 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 77



12 

 

 

 

P
age 78



13 

 

 
APPENDIX 2 – WORKSHOP 2 
 

 

P
age 79



14 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

P
age 80



15 

 

 
 

 

P
age 81



16 

 

 

P
age 82



17 

 

 

P
age 83



18 

 

 
APPENDIX 3 – WORKSHOP 3 
 

 

P
age 84



19 

 

 

 
 

P
age 85



20 

 

 
 

P
age 86



21 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 87



22 

 

 
APPENDIX 4 – SCHEDULE OF COMMENTS   RECEIVED ON DRAFT SPD 
 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

1 Resident Resident Page 16, map and info:  As a long standing 
tenant of Thetford block (Lower Falinge), it is 
essential that this block, and the adjacent 
Stavordale block, fronting Spotland Road and 
up to the junction with Sheriff Street are kept. 
Thetford block has shops underneath and the 
map shows these as “existing shopping parade 
to be retained and enhanced”. 
 
Page 19, map and info. The area behind 
Thetford block is shown as becoming a 
secondary street. It is currently a car park area 
for the shop owners and also a car parking 
area for people who live here and also for 
deliveries to the shops. If this is removed, 
where are we who live here supposed to park? 
There are also garage blocks that tenants use, 
and again, if these are demolished, where are 
we supposed to securely park? The car park 
area is only accessible from an entrance off 
Sheriff Street, near the junction of Falinge 
Road, yet if these plans are granted, the 
tenants and shop owners will now have the 
safe car park area to the rear of Thetford 
turned into a secondary street, with I assume 
new vehicle traffic? The junction of Spotland 
Road and Sheriff Street is already one of the 

Both Thetford and 
Stavordale blocks are 
to be retained as 
shown on the 
Abbeydale Focus Area 
Plan. 
 
 
 
Any proposals will 
need to ensure 
appropriate access 
and parking for 
existing and new 
residents, including 
businesses.  However, 
it is not possible or 
appropriate for the 
SPD to be too 
prescriptive in terms of 
specific areas for car 
parking. 
 
In terms of pollution 
from traffic this is being 
dealt with at a more 
strategic level e.g. 

No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A paragraph has 
been added to 
Section 6 Transport 
and Access as 
follows: VI. Car 
Parking provision – 
The SPD does not 
set out any specific 
requirements in 
respect of car 
parking provision 
across the area.  
Site specific 
proposals that come 
forward will need to 
demonstrate that 
they deliver 
appropriate levels of 

P
age 88



23 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

worst polluted areas in the whole of Rochdale 
according to the "Greater Manchester Clean 
Air Zone" website mapping*, which shows 
roads in our region which are likely to have 
NO2 levels in breach of legal limits beyond 
2020. Allowing further traffic right behind the 
rear of Thetford will make this even worse for 
those of us who live here. I stress again, you 
must provide safe parking for people who live 
in the retained blocks. It seems the new 
houses have drives and parking spaces so 
they are fine, but you are taking away the 
parking and garages of the residents of 
Thetford and Stavordale blocks. 
 
*SOURCE: https://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-
zone-map/ 
 
Page 22, map and info. This map shows 2-5 
storey residential development in the area that 
is currently the car park area and garage 
blocks at the rear of Thetford block. Again, 
where are the shop owners meant to park and 
have deliveries and where are tenants of 
Stavordale and Thetford block meant to park if 
this area is being swiped for multi-storey new 
properties? There are already two 5 storey 
high apartment buildings under construction on 
Lower Falinge near the new Toad Lane houses 
built, so why are further possible 5 storey 

through the Clean Air 
Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wording has been 
added to the SPD 
which makes reference 
to the sensitive use of 
building heights along 
key routes and key 
locations whilst taking 
account of their 
appropriateness within 
the wider 
development.  
  

car parking to meet 
the needs of 
existing and future 
residents.  Car 
parking should be 
located and 
designed in such a 
way to avoid car 
dominated streets 
and deliver 
attractive residential 
environments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following text 
has been added to 
the Land Use 
Strategy section 
stating that the SPD 
requires ‘4. The 
sensitive use of 
building heights to 
strengthen key 
routes and key 
locations across the 
neighbourhood, 

P
age 89



24 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

buildings being talked about? These will look 
greatly out of place along Sheriff Street from 
the junction at Spotland Road, down it’s length 
up to the junction with Falinge Road and very 
close to the entrance of Falinge Park. There is 
nothing wrong with building normal height 2/3 
bedroom homes fronting Sheriff Street - but not 
these imposing possible 5 storey high blocks. 
 
Page 23, map and info. As above, this shows 
3-5 storey high blocks fronting Sheriff Street at 
the rear of Thetford block, with shorter 2-4 
storey high buildings where Ullesthorpe and 
Vaynor blocks of Lower Falinge currently 
stand. If any construction has to take place in 
the car park area behind Thetford block, surely 
it makes sense to have the shorter height 
buildings fronting Sheriff Street with any taller 
blocks/buildings further inland. This will blend 
in with the existing privately owned housing 
along Sheriff Street up to the entrance of 
Falinge park. 2/3 bed housing running down 
both sides of Sheriff Street as opposed to two 
proposed 5 storey high blocks, hardly aesthetic 
and fitting in with the area.  To build 5 storey 
buildings right next to retained blocks that are 
already high will give the estate the built up 
look of high rise flats, no matter how you tart 
them up from the outside. You should be 
looking to build any more 5 storey buildings (if 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

whilst respecting the 
wider residential 
scale across 
existing adjacent 
neighbourhoods.’ 
 
In addition the 
section on scale and 
massing has been 
amended to state 
the following 
(new/amended text 
is underlined): 
Some marker 
buildings could be 
located as 
landmarks on the 
urban landscape, 
subject to their 
sensitive design and 
appropriateness 
alongside wider 
development and 
investment. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 90



25 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

even needed) AWAY from current retained 
blocks, either on the St Mary’s Gate area to be 
developed later, or elsewhere, but NOT next to 
retained blocks. It makes no sense to pile the 
high buildings together when isn’t knocking 
most of estate down, meant to be getting away 
from that? Don’t put high things next to the 
retained blocks. Low buildings would be best 
next to the retained blocks and along Sheriff 
Street. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 26, info and map. Your own words state 
“Spotland Road and Sheriff Street are also 
characterised by fast and high volumes of 
traffic particularly at rush hour, causing high 
levels of congestion at key junctions including 
at Falinge Road and Sheriff Street”. Already 
mentioned earlier by myself as being identified 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Whilst this can be a 
busy junction a lot of 
this traffic is a result of 
this being part of the 
strategic route 
network.  The SPD 
does set out potential 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
References to 
‘Potential junction 
improvements’ on 
maps relating to 
Abbeydale Focus 
Area. 
 

P
age 91



26 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

as one of the worst polluted road junctions in 
the Manchester Clean Air Zone plans. Building 
new houses / multi-storey apartments on the 
garage / shop parking area behind Thetford 
block will just add to the pollution with 100s 
more people moving into the homes / 
apartments and that will increase the number 
of vehicles along Spotland Road and Sheriff 
Street. So think very carefully about adding 
more roads. 
 
This map also shows “improved parking for 
shops” to the front of Thetford block at the 
junction with Spotland Road. Why. Why? 
WHY? The traffic is bad enough at this junction 
and removing / reducing the green space in 
front of the shops (the only bit of greenery and 
nature we get to see) to add parking just for 
shop customers is just madness and totally 
unnecessary. There is nothing wrong with the 
existing parking further down Spotland Road 
starting outside the “Eastern Restaurant and 
Takeaway”. It is bad enough as it is with issues 
caused by people visiting the restaurant / 
takeaway, but if you remove / reduce the green 
grassed area in front of the shops to allow 
people to park right under our flat windows is 
just not acceptable. It will increase pollution, 
noise and anti-social behaviour as people will 
sit in their cars with either music thumping out, 

opportunities for 
junction improvements 
to which could assist in 
terms of congestion 
and any associated air 
pollution 
 
 
 
 
 
Given the comments 
received, it is now 
considered that the 
inclusion of parking in 
front of the Thetford 
block is not required 
and that adequate 
parking currently exists 
on Spotland Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reference to 
parking in front of 
the Thetford block 
removed from 
Figure 14. And 
reference to it 
removed from the 
text 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 92



27 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

or with their car engines running and increased 
anti-social behaviour with people being allowed 
to park right under peoples homes ON AN 
ALREADY HIGHLY POLLUTED NOISY 
JUNCTION, just so they can visit the shops? 
Most people visiting the shops (listed here in 
order - a newsagent, hairdressers, butchers, 
carpet shop and a bookmakers) already walk 
to them, or park just a few feet away in the 
existing adequate bays running down Spotland 
Road towards town, or park around the back of 
the shops at the rear of Thetford block (far 
away from windows). There is no justification 
to “improving parking” for users of the shops. 
They all shut at night with the exception of the 
restaurant and takeaway and having dedicated 
parking spaces right outside / underneath the 
front of the flats on Thetford block will only 
serve the takeaway, their noisy staff and make 
life a misery for those of us who live on 
Thetford block. People will sit in their cars in 
these “proposed new parking spaces” and anti-
social behaviour will rocket. Spotland Road 
often sounds like a race track when people sit 
and rev their car engines at the lights or try to 
make as much noise as possible when setting 
off. You cannot add parking there.  People 
coming and going in their cars to the takeaway 
at all hours is already a problem. Totally unfair 
on us and totally unneeded. It’s bad enough as 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 93



28 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

it is, but when this lockdown ends and the 
takeaway will be open again until 2am in the 
morning it will be terrible, you cannot change 
the current parking in this residential area that 
will make us suffer from the extra noise this will 
inevitably bring. Business parking is stop start, 
stop start – engines on off on off. Having that 
kind of thing under peoples windows – very 
thin windows – is just unthinkable. The 
complete opposite of residents parking their 
cars on drives or designated parking bays. 
 
Page 28 “Lower Falinge Estate Shops Parking 
- There is an aspiration to retain the shops 
within the Lower Falinge Estate at the junction 
of Spotland Road and Sheriff Street and to 
provide a designated parking area that is off 
the main highway”. Please see my comments 
above. There is already a designated parking 
area parallel to Spotland Road for users of the 
shops. That is more than enough. You cannot 
use space that is currently pedestrian to make 
parking just for shops right under peoples 
windows.  
 
Page 30, map and info. Again, multi-storey 
apartments should not be built in the current 
car park  / garage area behind Thetford block 
along Sheriff Street up to the junction with 
Falinge Road. Smaller housing would suffice 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See comments 
regarding height of 
blocks above.  There 
has also been text 
added to make 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 

P
age 94



29 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

with any further required multi-storey blocks to 
be built “into” the new estate away from the 
current roads. Large high new builds will look 
overpowering next to the decent retained 
blocks. You should not be building a new high 
rise looking area. Lower houses with gardens 
and space, next to the retained blocks is surely 
the way to go. This is a once in a generation 
plan – please don’t mess it up. 
 

reference to that fact 
that the blocks used in 
the plans are 
illustrative only and are 
not intended to 
indicate a certain type 
of residential 
development.  As 
noted above there will 
be higher density 
development in some 
locations but this will 
have regard to the 
sensitive use of 
heights as noted 
above. 

2 Coal 
Authority 

Melanie 
Lindsley 

Thank you for your notification received on the 
12 February 2021 in respect of the above 
consultation.   
 
The records we hold do not indicate any 
recorded risks from coal mining legacy at 
surface or shallow depth in the Lower Falinge 
area as identified in the draft SPD.  On this 
basis we have no specific comments to make.   
 
The Coal Authority’s records indicate that 
surface coal resource is present on the area, 
although this should not be taken to imply that 
mineral extraction would be economically 

Comment noted No change 

P
age 95



30 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

viable, technically feasible or environmentally 
acceptable.   As you will be aware those 
authorities with responsibility for minerals 
planning and safeguarding will have identified 
where they consider minerals of national 
importance are present in your area and 
related policy considerations.  Consideration 
should be given to such advice in respect of 
the indicated surface coal resource. 
 

3 Resident Resident Hello, 
 
You say you want the relevant page number 
put next to each comment.... i will try but i have 
already made notes and am having to go back 
to your document to find the direct part it 
references. So if it doesn't match up exactly 
with a page, please still listen to my views. I 
have lived in the Falinge area my entire life, 
and on Lower Falinge for a long time, so I feel I 
do have knowledge on this matter. 
 
Point 1) Your page 23 lists "3 to 5 stories along 
Sheriff Street and Thetford". And pages 29 to 
34 are all about the build and design on the 
Sheriff Street and area in front of the retained 
Thetford block on the current Lower Falinge 
car park where the garages are. 
I urge you to reconsider your plan to build 3 to 
5 stories along here. In particular any 4 to 5 

 
 
Noted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See response relating 
to heights above 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



31 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

story block. You are already building 2 over 
near the current new builds, giant tall things. 
To put tall blocks of flats slap bang right next to 
the remaining block of Thetford, will make the 
whole area seem like an estate of flats, you 
shouldn't put a cluster of high buildings 
together, so why are you considering putting a 
5 story block right next to Thetford block? On 
the current Lower Falinge car park? 
 
We expected to have 2 (3 at most) story 
houses built on the current car park area by 
Sheriff Street/ Thetford block when the car 
park is cleared. I thought the point was to 
make quiet nice houses. The whole area over 
the other side of Sheriff Street is nice houses, 
tree lined streets, towards St Edmunds 
Church, the school, Lenny Barn, the park, you 
should be trying to blend in with that when you 
build on the car park/Thetford side of the 
estate. Not making new tall ugly buildings. 
 
I assumed the remaining retained blocks would 
be stand alone with smaller houses and nice 
trees dotted around them, this is your chance 
to make that happen - not to build tall buildings 
around the current tall buildings. Surely you 
don't want to put a high block next to the 
already there blocks? Wouldn't that give the 
impression of tower blocks that you were trying 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above re building 
heights 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The new development 
is likely to include 
housing but may also 
include some higher 
density development to 
ensure an appropriate 
amount of new 
housing is delivered.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted above, the 
following text has 
been added to the 
Land Use Strategy 
section stating that 
the SPD requires ‘4. 
The sensitive use of 
building heights to 

P
age 97



32 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

to get away from? If you build a 5 story block it 
should be away from the retained blocks, over 
by where Exbury end of the estate is or much 
preferably away towards the cleared land by St 
Marys Gate and Lidl, when that area is built on. 
That area refered to as number 2 (or even 4) 
on your numbered map on page 29 of your 
document would be the best place to build 
taller things, as that would be where there are 
already no tall ones there. So it would not be 
overpowering. 
On page 23 you list 3 to 5 stories along the 
current car park by Sheriff Street and Thetford, 
but  smaller lower homes further in past 
Stavordale and Quinton. I feel it should be the 
other way round and you should not be 
enclosing the new build estate with the high 
buildings around the edges. You should be 
wanting to smooth in with the whole tree lined 
look towards St Edmunds Church and in the 
distance the park. Taller bigger things should 
be more towards Townhead (St Mary's 
Gate/Dunelm). Any high buildings by Thetford 
and the current car park would be a big 
mistake. 
 
 
 
 
Point 2) On page 13 (and elsewhere) you list 

The SPD makes it 
clear that taller 
buildings and higher 
densities will be 
appropriately and 
sensitively located 
having regard to 
residential amenity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This would only be 

strengthen key 
routes and key 
locations across the 
neighbourhood, 
whilst respecting the 
wider residential 
scale across 
existing adjacent 
neighbourhoods.’ 
 
In addition the 
section on scale and 
massing has been 
amended to state 
the following 
(new/amended text 
is underlined): 
Some marker 
buildings could be 
located as 
landmarks on the 
urban landscape, 
subject to their 
sensitive design and 
appropriateness 
alongside wider 
development and 
investment. 
  
A slight amendment 

P
age 98



33 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

possibly putting convenience stores in the 
ground floor of some of the new buildings. I 
feel you have not thought through the complete 
disruption it causes residents who would 
probably live right next door to a shop that will 
be open til way past bedtime, serving alcohol 
and cigarettes and such like. There is 
absolutely no need for any new shop space to 
be out into the new builds.  
 
Point 3) Nowhere in your plans does it list 
where people in the retained blocks are meant 
to park their car once the car park and garages 
is built on. You list parking for new build 
houses (ie drives), you even list off road 
parking for the shops (i will come to that in 
point 4), but where are people in the current 
flats meant to park? Many still pay rent for a 
secure RBH garage as they do not feel safe 
leaving their car out. There will be no 
replacement for them. and the ones who leave 
it out in the car park - where are the meant to 
park every night? You cannot have tenants 
losing a place to safely park while giving new 
tenants their own parking space. 
 
 
 
 
 

considered where 
appropriate, having 
regard to local amenity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Any proposals will 
need to ensure 
appropriate access 
and parking for 
existing and new 
residents, including 
businesses.  However, 
it is not possible or 
appropriate for the 
SPD to be too 
prescriptive in terms of 
specific areas for car 
parking. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

has been made to 
the scale and 
massing section to 
add that non-
residential uses 
would only be 
included where such 
uses were 
appropriate.  
 
A paragraph has 
been added to 
Section 6 Transport 
and Access as 
follows: VI. Car 
Parking provision – 
The SPD does not 
set out any specific 
requirements in 
respect of car 
parking provision 
across the area.  
Site specific 
proposals that come 
forward will need to 
demonstrate that 
they deliver 
appropriate levels of 
car parking to meet 
the needs of 

P
age 99



34 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Point 4) On page 26 you say about providing 
off road parking for the shops below Thetford 
block, off Spotland Road. I am very much 
against this. Again it is something you have not 
thought through. Firstly, most people using 
those shops walk to them, and that is a fact. 
And secondly, you have maps showing future 
trees and nice greenery below Thetford block 
on Spotland road, talking about downgrading 
the junction and making the whole part a much 
better greener cleaner air part. But then you 
say you will have shops parking right below 
tenants windows? Before Covid when the 
takeaway was allowed to open til past 
midnight, people would park on Spotland Road 
for them, and leave music thumping out while 
they went in, and often leave it playing while 
they then ate it. Would you like to then find out 
parking spaces for that kind of behaviour til the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Given the comments 
received, it is now 
considered that the 
inclusion of parking in 
front of the Thetford 
block is not required 
and that adequate 
parking currently exists 
on Spotland Road 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

existing and future 
residents.  Car 
parking should be 
located and 
designed in such a 
way to avoid car 
dominated streets 
and deliver 
attractive residential 
environments. 
 
Reference to 
parking in front of 
the Thetford block 
removed from 
Figure 14. And 
reference to it 
removed from the 
text 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 100



35 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

early hours will be built right below windows? 
To allow even more disturbance to 
residents?   Isn't the aim to be quieter and 
more residential? If you allow off road parking 
for customers in the section outside Adams 
news to Coral bookmakers it will ruin the 
residents peace. Unlike residents parking, 
shoppers parking is stop/start, that means 
more pollution and more noise. Surely any 
parking for there is fine where it is on Spotland 
Road passing  further away from Stavordale.  
You do not need to have cars for the shops 
below peoples windows at all hours.  
 
Point 5) i am wary of you having a road coming 
off Sheriff Street all the way along Thetford 
block passing Stavordale. There is currently no 
through road there. It is very noisy with the 
junction as it is, and the air pollution on that 
junction is one of the highest spots in the 
country. To have a road now go past the front 
and back of the block is very unfair. It seems 
residents are losing their parking yet having 
more noise from cars and people, and 
pollution. 
 
 
I would have thought your plan (mentioned of 
page 17) of cycle paths throughout, and paths, 
roads, would create a rat run where antisocial 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The plans are 
indicative but there will 
be a need to have 
some vehicular routes 
within the estate.  If 
and when these do link 
to existing key routes 
this would be carefully 
managed with a strong 
emphasis on amenity 
and promoting active 
travel. 
 
The SPD seeks to 
ensure a high quality 
residential 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 

P
age 101



36 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

behaviour can literally run through the whole 
estate. This would have been your chance to 
create small homely cul-de-sacs of houses, 
with no through roads, and quiet slow traffic 
environment. But you do seem keen to do the 
opposite. Trees, flowers, wide pavements are 
a big yes, but please have a big think about the 
roads... 
 
To recap - 
 
 
Do not build anything above 3 stories on the 
current Lower Falinge car park close to the 
retained blocks (Thetford is on the Sheriff 
Street / Spotland Road corner). Please realise 
that putting high buildings right by the retained 
blocks will give an impression of a boxed in 
estate. There is plently of room in the next 
phase by St Marys Gate for a couple of high 
buildings if needed, they should not be where 
there already are 4 story  retained blocks. I 
thought you were going for open spaces, not 
boxed in high rises all bunched together. The 
retained blocks are more than enough for that 
end of the area. 
 
Do not create off road parking for the shops 
below Thetford block off Spotland Road. 
 

environment.  Whilst 
this may include cul-
de-sacs it is important 
to ensure attractive 
and safe routes are 
delivered through the 
area providing 
convenient access to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods and 
the town centre. 
 
See responses above 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 

P
age 102



37 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

Do provide parking for residents in the retained 
blocks once the garages and car park is 
removed. New tenants seem to be getting a 
drive or their own reserved space. But nothing 
for the people losing their garage (or the car 
park).  
 
Providing shop space in the ground floor of any 
high new building would be detrimental to what 
you are trying to achieve, as late night 
convenience stores can be a haven antisocial 
behaviour outside. 
 
And consider carefully your plan for roads 
where there currently aren't any, having a road 
come off Sheriff Street along the back of 
Thetford block and passing Stavordale would 
make it even more unsafe and noisy. Cul-de-
sacs and quiet roads are surely the way to go. 
Not a rat run. 
 
Thank you. 
 

4 Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing 

Gemma 
Wood 

 
 Introduction 
1.1 Avison Young are delighted to prepare a 
response to the Draft Lower Falinge 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
(February 2021) on behalf of Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing (RBH).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 103



38 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
1.2 Avison Young have supported RBH for 
over 3 years advising on the regeneration and 
renewal of the Lower Falinge and College 
Bank neighbourhoods. Rochdale Borough 
Council has been a key stakeholder and 
partner in that process.  
 
1.3 RBH are supportive of the overall need for 
an SPD covering Lower Falinge. This is an 
important document to enable the 
comprehensive regeneration of this critical 
area adjacent to Rochdale town centre. We are 
committed to delivering change and investment 
in this area. The ultimate adoption of the SPD 
is a key milestone and a critical message to 
our partner that we are working hand-in-hand 
with the Council to ensure the sustainability 
and future success of the neighbourhoods. We 
continue to progress with ongoing activity 
including rehousing of residents whose homes 
are affected by the proposals and the 
progression of land assembly where required 
to implement the masterplan including 
considerable direct investment in this area to 
date.  
 
1.4 The remainder of this document sets out 
specific comments that we have that we ask be 
considered as part of the finalisation of the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 104



39 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

SPD. We are happy to provide more context 
and detail as required to enable the Council to 
respond fully to the points raised.  
 
2. General Comments 
Purpose and Status of the SPD  
 
2.1 RBH would emphasise the need to reflect 
within the introductory text that the SPD is 
required to facilitate investment in the Lower 
Falinge neighbourhood – identified to be an 
area of significant socio-demographic and 
economic deprivation, with noted housing 
market failures including over-supply of small 
(1-bed and bedsit) dwellings and a poor mix of 
different types and tenures of homes, including 
a dominance of social rented tenures. The 
neighbourhoods were found to be 
unsustainable as part of the RBH 
masterplanning process undertaken, with the 
SPD a key document enabling an appropriate 
development and investment response to 
deliver a better mix and quality of homes to 
meet the needs of existing and future residents 
and address the challenges faced and 
maximise the opportunities afforded within this 
area.  
 
2.2 It should also be noted that further context 
for the masterplan process and subsequent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is considered that 
the document provides 
sufficient justification 
for the SPD and the 
need for investment 
within the 
neighbourhood 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 105



40 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

identified preferred strategy for intervention 
was business planning and investment 
decision making within RBH as an 
organisation. The physical decline of homes 
across the masterplan area resulting in 
recognition of significant ongoing maintenance 
costs as well as one-off investments required 
on elements of the stock, coupled with varying 
levels of demand, and increasing use of short-
term lettings policies to ensure that homes are 
occupied was identified early within the 
process as being generally unsustainable for 
RBH as an organisation.  
2.3 We would suggest the following text be 
considered for inclusion in the SPD to provide 
this context:  
 
Alongside the socio-demographic and 
economic challenges faced within the area, it is 
noted that the nature of the existing homes – 
including significant requirement for investment 
to ensure homes are fit for habitation in the 
long term, coupled with varying levels of 
demand for the homes, has meant that full 
retention of the neighbourhoods in their current 
form is not a sustainable investment option for 
RBH.  
Furthermore the inherent problems with the 
existing homes are not limited to the physical 
condition of the buildings. The most 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 106



41 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

problematic homes was delivered to an urban 
structure which fails to provide hierarchy of 
streets linked into the surrounding area, 
instead reflecting the modernist concepts 
applied to developments in the post war era. 
Thus the relationships between the different 
buildings and the layout of the place and 
neighbourhoods creates significant problems 
which cannot be resolved through 
refurbishment of the existing homes alone .  
 
Plans (Various)  
 
2.4 RBH note that many of the plans included 
within the SPD – both thematic and area 
specific – have evolved (in some cases only 
minor evolution, but changed nonetheless) 
from the plans included in the masterplan 
having been subject to community 
consultation.  
 
2.5 These changes, although minor in some 
cases, do have implications for the wider 
process being progressed by RBH including 
land assembly and project deliverability.  
 
2.6 RBH recognise that the plans are included 
by RBC for illustrative purposes and to present 
principles of development and investment in a 
visual form. Notwithstanding that, RBH ask that 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Where appropriate, the 
SPD makes it clear 
that plans are 
illustrative. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 107



42 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

notes be added to the document to emphasise 
that any plans included are for illustrative 
purposes only, furthermore that the SPD will 
provide a guide for the preparation of a 
detailed masterplan which will provide the 
detail of the comprehensive regeneration of the 
area which we assume will be established 
through the preparation of comprehensive 
Outline Planning Application(s). It is assumed 
that future planning applications will fix specific 
interventions including any required road-
alignments and infrastructure delivery including 
scale and location of open space and green 
links and connections.  
 
3. Mix of Uses 
Public Open Spaces and Play Provision  
 
3.1 RBH support the important prominence 
given to public open space and play provision 
within the SPD document. It is suggested that 
references could be strengthened to include 
support for the creation of local food growing 
where possible.  
 
New and Improved Homes  
 
3.2 RBH request that reference be made at 4.5 
of the SPD to the recognised need to address 
effective housing market failure in the area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agree.  Reference 
added relating to 
opportunities for local 
food growing on 
appropriate sites. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Text added to the 
end of bullet point 3 
in the Open Spaces 
and Play Strategy 
section to read 
(new/amended text 
is underlined): 3. 
Creation of spaces 
to provide a range 
of recreational 
activities for people 
of all ages and 

P
age 108



43 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

including noted significant oversupply of social 
rented homes, flatted accommodation, and 
bedsit and 1-bedroom provision across the 
area. This is part of a wider strategy (aligned 
with the aspirations of the Council) to create a 
more diverse and sustainable local housing 
market with a better mix and quality of homes, 
a variety of tenures to meet need.  
 
4. Design Principles 
 
Access and Movement Strategy  
4.1 RBH ask that greater emphasis be added 
in the context and key aspirations relating to 
pedestrian and cycle links and connectivity 
with the Town Centre and adjacent areas.  
 
4.2 RBH ask that reference be made to the 
sustainable nature of this location – proximate 
to the Town Centre and wider transport 
connections linking in with the regional centre 
(Manchester City Centre) and beyond via light 
rail and mainline rail provision.  
 
4.3 RBH suggest that explicit reference be 
made to the aspirations to deliver investment 
along St Marys Gate (A58) including improved 
pedestrian and cycle experience alongside 
legible, safe and easy to use pedestrian 
crossing points to increase connectivity with 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In relation to these 
points, it is considered 
that general wording 
changes to the SPD 
over time include 
sufficient emphasis in 
relation to active travel 
and the sustainable 
location of the area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

particularly for 
young people. This 
range of activities 
could also include 
opportunities for 
local food growing 
on appropriate sites. 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 109



44 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

the Town Centre within the key aspirations.  
 
Land Use Strategy  
 
4.4 RBH would emphasise that the 
underpinning principle behind the regeneration 
of Lower Falinge and College Bank is the 
creation of a vibrant and sustainable residential 
area supported by a mix of compatible uses of 
a scale appropriate to the location of the 
neighbourhood adjacent to the Town Centre 
with a focus on public amenities that support 
the local community.  
 
4.5 RBH ask that the following be added to the 
list of key aspirations:  
 
Diversification of the local housing offer 
including more private tenure homes to own or 
rent and family housing to support wider 
economic aspirations and meet local need 
through identification and delivery of new 
development opportunities.  
 
4.6 RBH ask that text requiring the retention of 
the building occupied by Cascada Bathrooms 
be removed – this is not a listed building and 
its retention will rely on viability and a 
deliverable positive contribution to the overall 
objectives. The text could be amended as a 

 
 
 
 
The SPD contains 
sufficient emphasis in 
terms of the aim the 
creating a high quality 
neighbourhood in a 
sustainable location.  It 
also includes sufficient 
reference to the 
diversification of the 
housing offer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There is no longer any 
specific reference to 
this in the SPD. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 110



45 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

minimum to state a preference to retain if a 
viable use can be identified to accommodate 
the building and bring it back into full use as 
part of a comprehensively delivered 
masterplan. RBH also suggest that reference 
is made to the address / building rather than 
occupier to provide clarity and recognising that 
ownership and occupation may change and 
the aspiration relates to the building not the 
business.  
 
4.7 RBH would emphasise that mixed-use 
development allowing for non-residential 
frontages as ground floors to residential blocks 
is supported along St Mary’s Gate but not 
wholesale across the area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Focus Areas 
 
5.1 As an over-riding comment for all focus 
areas, and as per previous comments, RBH 
ask that reference be made to the plan being 
indicative and for the purposes of presenting 
principles of design rather than being 
allocations or site specific requirements, with 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agree that such uses 
should be limited to 
where these are 
appropriate and this 
has been made more 
clear in the text 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is agreed that it is 
helpful if there is 
clarification that the 
plan are illustrative 
rather than actual 
layouts of how these 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A slight amendment 
has been made to 
the scale and 
massing section to 
add that non-
residential uses 
would only be 
included where such 
uses were 
appropriate.  
 
 
 
At the end of the 
last paragraph in the 
Focus Area 
introduction the 
following has been 
added to the second 

P
age 111



46 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

the detail being refined and set though a 
project masterplan via an Outline Planning 
Application(s).  
 
Abbeydale Road  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 RBH request the removal of references to 
demolition / clearance in this section. This is 
not appropriate to consider here and should be 
referenced instead in a stand-alone section 
within the delivery and implementation element 
of the SPD. (See later section)  
 
Redcross Street  
 
5.3 RBH ask that the SPD is clear on the 
nature of active frontages supported in 
locations other than plots fronting onto St 
Mary’s Gate – these should be clearly 
identified as active residential frontages within 
the SPD.  
 
St Mary’s Gate (A58)  
 

areas will be delivered 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is considered that for 
clarity it is useful to 
reference possible 
demolition against the 
relevant focus areas 
 
 
 
 
The SPD makes 
sufficient reference 
with regard to active 
frontages 
 
 
 
 
 

paragraph 
‘Consequently, the 
plans are not 
intended to imply a 
specific layout but 
rather are intended 
to show the 
importance of strong 
and active frontages 
to the surrounding 
road network.’ 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 112



47 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

5.4 RBH ask that the SPD is clear on the 
nature of active frontages supported in 
locations other than plots fronting onto St 
Mary’s Gate – these should be clearly 
identified as active residential frontages within 
the SPD.  
 
Future Area of Focus  
 
5.5 RBH suggest that the SPD should 
recognise that future change may result from 
wider influences including successful 
implementation of RBH’s masterplan alongside 
retail market changes and other market and 
macro-economic influences.  
 
 
 
 
 
6. Affordable Housing –Creating a Mixed 
Tenure Community 
 
6.1 RBH request that RBC consider an area 
specific policy relating to affordable housing 
delivery across Lower Falinge.  
 
6.2 In particular, RBH note that the original 
aspirations of the masterplan process and 
identified need to rebalance the local housing 

The SPD makes 
sufficient reference 
with regard to active 
frontages 
 
 
 
 
 
It is not considered 
that this addition is 
necessary in the 
context of this Focus 
Area.  The main issue 
is to ensure that new 
development links in to 
the anticipated 
development to the 
west 
 
It is agreed that it is 
helpful to clarify how 
the delivery of 
affordable housing 
may be dealt with 
across the area. 
 
 
 
 

No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following 
paragraph has been 
added to the section 
on ‘Infrastructure 
and S106 
Contributions’ to 
read ‘Given that this 
SPD covers a large 
area with multiple 
phases some 

P
age 113



48 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

market including need to introduce a greater 
presence of private sector housing given the 
almost exclusive social housing offer across 
the area currently.  
 
6.3 Specifically RBH consider it vital that RBC 
include consideration within the SPD as to their 
ability to accept phases of development 
delivering below policy required affordable 
housing on-site including instances of zero 
affordable housing provision where supported 
by evidence of contribution of the proposed 
housing and tenure mix to the housing market 
and/or viability analysis demonstrating that 
affordable housing is not viable. This could 
include consideration of alternative means of 
assessing affordable housing provision – by 
bed-spaces, units or by floorspace. This 
commonly means such schemes deliver 
quantum of affordable housing more reflective 
of the current provision and wider 
scheme/Council objectives than the purely the 
Councils affordable housing policy.  
 
6.4 It is common and accepted practice for 
affordable housing provision in an estate 
renewal scheme to be considered 
comprehensively and not on a phase by phase 
basis. This is necessary to ensure delivery, 
efficient rehousing of displaced residents and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

phases may include 
the delivery of 
higher percentages 
of affordable 
housing than others, 
including 100% 
affordable schemes.  
Therefore, it may be 
appropriate for the 
local planning 
authority to enter 
into an agreement 
or memorandum of 
understanding with 
RBH that factors in 
an approach which 
considers different 
levels of provision 
on different phases 
across the area.  
This is necessary as 
some phases may 
be appropriate to 
deliver 100% private 
sale provided that 
the appropriate level 
of affordable 
housing is 
delivered.’ 
 

P
age 114



49 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

tenure diversification. Housing renewal 
projects generally seek to replicate the existing 
social floor space provision unless there is a 
need to achieve other wider Council objectives 
or housing market needs.  
 
7. Understanding and Responding to Equalities 
Impact 
 
7.1 RBH suggest that text is included under 
‘Planning Application Requirements’ relating to 
Equalities Impact Assessment. RBH has 
undertaken initial analysis of equalities impacts 
relating to the masterplan proposals but fully 
support the need for EqIA reporting to support 
any future planning applications across the 
area. RBH are happy to provide further 
information to feed into any EqIA of the SPD 
document. Given the need to discharge duty 
around EqIA through every stage on project we 
would support the need for EqIA to be factored 
directly into the SPD process and be explained 
in more detail in supporting documents.  
 
8. Residential Demolition 
 
8.1 RBH suggest that a section is added to 
Section 8 ‘Delivery and Implementation’ to 
summarise approach to acquisition or 
appropriation of land and demolition of existing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD process has 
been the subject of an 
EqIA but it is not 
considered necessary 
to include anything 
specific in this section 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There is currently 
appropriate reference 
to possible demolition 
in relevant sections of 
the SPD.  It is not 
considered necessary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 

P
age 115



50 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

buildings rather than making reference to 
potential clearance on an area / focus area 
specific basis. This is because delivery of the 
scheme may require acquisition of a variety of 
interests across the area and/or use of 
statutory powers to cleanse title of 
encumbrances comprehensively. With a 
scheme of this scale and nature where 
comprehensivity is key to achieving change 
and preventing detecting piecemeal 
development it is necessary to provide policy 
support to use site assembly powers 
comprehensively to resolve any 
encumbrances, some of which may currently 
be unknown.  
 
8.2 RBH would propose the following text is 
considered for inclusion in part or in whole:  
 
The SPD acknowledges the need for a 
comprehensive approach to investment and 
redevelopment across the Lower Falinge 
where it can be evidenced that retention of 
current uses and buildings is not sustainable 
and/or where demolition is required to enable 
the regeneration of the area as a whole and/or 
to meet housing needs in the area. Where a 
need to clear existing dwellings, or other 
buildings and/or acquire land is identified, the 
Council may utilise its statutory site assembly 

to remove these and 
add a new section. 

P
age 116



51 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

powers if necessary to ensure project delivery.  
 
To mitigate the impact of redevelopment on 
any existing residents it is recognised that RBH 
has in place mechanisms to support their 
residents including tailored support and 
financial packages and commitment to re-
house in the local area or area of choice in 
homes that meet specific resident needs. The 
SPD will require consideration as to the most 
appropriate planning framework in relation to 
any demolition, site assembly and 
redevelopment including the need for 
Environmental Impact Assessment screening 
to infirm whether a planning application is 
required in advance of any demolition. 

5 Historic 
England 

Pippa 
Brown 

 
 DRAFT LOWER FALINGE 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT  
 
The draft Lower Falinge SPD sets out a vision 
for the area, to:  
“Build on the strengths of the existing 
neighbourhood and enhance it through 
improvements to the housing offer including 
both tenure and type, alongside delivery of 
supporting green infrastructure, public realm, 
highways upgrades and associated 
infrastructure as required to support housing 
delivery”.  

 
 
 
 
Comments noted.  It is 
agreed that it would be 
appropriate to make 
reference to the listed 
building and 
surrounding area that 
is within the Future 
Area of Focus 

 
 
 
 
Paragraph added to 
Future Area of 
Focus Section to 
read ‘This area also 
includes the Grade 
11* listed Hope 
Street Chapel and 
Parsons House 
which is surrounded 
by a small group of 

P
age 117



52 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
The emphasis given to building on the 
strengths of the existing neighbourhood is both 
positive and welcomed. However, we do feel 
that the historic interest of the area could be 
brought out more strongly within the SPD, and 
particularly in relation to the sub-area defined 
as ‘Broad Area of Focus 4 - Future Area for 
Change’.  
 
We appreciate that the historic environment is 
fragmented, however, it does remain in places. 
For example, Hope Street Chapel and Parsons 
House is a Grade II* listed building, 
surrounded by a small group of Victorian 
buildings that are remnants of communities 
that predate those existing. The historic street 
pattern also remains fairly well intact. So the 
historic environment could be key to 
developing contextual proposals that help 
achieve the vision of the SPD.  
 
We therefore suggest that the document could 
be positively amended to explore the historic 
interest of the area and how its reuse could 
positively shape future redevelopment, 
especially in relation to the sub-area identified 
as ‘Broad Area of Focus 4 - Future Area for 
Change’.  
 

Victorian buildings 
that are remnants of 
communities that 
predate much of the 
surrounding 
development.  Any 
development within 
this area should 
have regard to the 
setting of this listed 
building, including 
the historic street 
pattern which 
remains fairly well 
intact.’  
 
 
 
 

P
age 118



53 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

Thank you for providing Historic England with 
the opportunity to comment. Should you 
require further clarification please contact me. 

6 Resident Resident  
In general – it is hard to understand the 
different figures as some contradict each other, 
and on some they show Quinton block as 
being retained but it is not being retained (eg 
7.1, pg 30).  So this makes it very hard to 
comment on your proposals. 
 
Page 23 - Figure 12 Scale and Massing 
 
I’m very concerned over the possible height of 
new builds where the car park currently is.  
You mention 3-5 storey buildings. The new 
flats next to Pershore block are very high and 
imposing next to the street, and Thetford block 
is remaining, so another tall block of flats in the 
car park next to Thetford would just make it 
look overbearing, and remove any view 
Thetford residents currently have of the park 
gates/greenery.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Commented noted.  It 
is agreed that this was 
an error which has 
been corrected 
 
 
 
As noted above, 
wording has been 
added to the SPD 
which makes reference 
to the sensitive use of 
building heights along 
key routes and key 
locations whilst taking 
account of their 
appropriateness within 
the wider development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Plan within SPD 
corrected to 
accurately depict 
the blocks identified 
to be retained 
 
 
The following text 
has been added to 
the Land Use 
Strategy section 
stating that the SPD 
requires ‘4. The 
sensitive use of 
building heights to 
strengthen key 
routes and key 
locations across the 
neighbourhood, 
whilst respecting the 
wider residential 
scale across 
existing adjacent 
neighbourhoods.’ 
 
In addition the 

P
age 119



54 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plus we all thought getting rid of the flats was 
to allow for houses, NOT to replace them with 
a load of large overbearing blocks of flats – 
there are already flats being built on the estate 
(near Pershore), and the plans were for more 
flats to be along St Mary’s Gate.  We were led 
to believe that people don’t want to live in flats, 
hence the majority of the existing flats being 
demolished. 
 
Page 26 - Figure 14 – Transport Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The reference to 
appropriate heights 
across the estate 
indicate the intention to 
deliver an appropriate 
mix of housing 
 
 
 
 
 

section on scale and 
massing has been 
amended to state 
the following 
(new/amended text 
is underlined): 
Some marker 
buildings could be 
located as 
landmarks on the 
urban landscape, 
subject to their 
sensitive design and 
appropriateness 
alongside wider 
development and 
investment. 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 120



55 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
You show proposed parking for the shops 
under Thetford as being directly outside the 
front of the shops.  This is very worrying for 
tenants (I have spoken to a few in my block 
and on Thetford).  Having a takeaway next to 
residential flats (Eastern) means we have to all 
put up with banging of car doors and cars 
pulling up on Spotland Road all evenings. If 
there is parking outside the shops then this 
slamming of doors/coming and going will be 
even louder and in particular affect the tenants 
on Thetford – the one bedroom flats actually 
have their bedrooms on Spotland Road so will 
be woken up by such noise just a couple of 
metres away from their flats.  Yes we currently 
have the car park behind Thetford, but those 
cars are a short distance away from the flats. 
 
Talking about parking in general – I am 
extremely concerned (as are others) about the 
lack of parking for residents once the garages 
and car park are demolished.  The new build 
houses will have their own parking, but what 
about tenants in the retained blocks of flats?  I 
have a garage in the car park and I am very 
worried about where on earth I will be able to 
park my car when you knock it down.  You 
MUST provide safe places for tenants in the 
retained blocks to park their cars. 

 
As noted against 
similar comments 
above, given the 
comments received, it 
is now considered that 
the inclusion of parking 
in front of the Thetford 
block is not required 
and that adequate 
parking currently exists 
on Spotland Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted against 
earlier comments, any 
proposals will need to 
ensure appropriate 
access and parking for 
existing and new 
residents, including 
businesses.  However, 
it is not possible or 
appropriate for the 
SPD to be too 

 
Reference to 
parking in front of 
the Thetford block 
removed from 
Figure 14. And 
reference to it 
removed from the 
text 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A paragraph has 
been added to 
Section 6 Transport 
and Access as 
follows: VI. Car 
Parking provision – 
The SPD does not 
set out any specific 
requirements in 
respect of car 
parking provision 

P
age 121



56 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 30 – Focus Area 1 – Abbeydale Road 
 
At the moment Lower Falinge is pretty safe for 
tenants (especially children) and visitors in 
terms of the risks of being knocked down by a 
car or of pollution from cars because we do not 
have any through roads (apart from Toad Lane 
area). 
 
Myself and many tenants have always been 

prescriptive in terms of 
specific areas for car 
parking. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It was never the 
intention that 
Abbeydale would be 
developed as a 
primary vehicular link 
through the estate.  
However in order to be 
more clear, text has 
been added to the 
SPD within the 

across the area.  
Site specific 
proposals that come 
forward will need to 
demonstrate that 
they deliver 
appropriate levels of 
car parking to meet 
the needs of 
existing and future 
residents.  Car 
parking should be 
located and 
designed in such a 
way to avoid car 
dominated streets 
and deliver 
attractive residential 
environments. 
 
Text has been 
added in various 
parts of the Focus 
Area 1 – Abbeydale 
Road section to 
clarify the status of 
this route and the 
focus on walking 
and cycling 
 

P
age 122



57 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

extremely concerned about plans to make a 
road through the estate from Howard Street to 
Spotland Road.  We can currently access Lidl 
and the Exchange without having to cross a 
road but if you put a road in we are having to 
cross that.  Even if it doesn’t become a “rat-
run” with fast-moving traffic, it will be full of car 
engines idling in traffic – pouring out pollution 
that will affect us all as we try to walk 
alongside/cross that new road.    It does not 
make sense to put a road there – that should 
remain pedestrian-only access onto Spotland 
Road but you should also make it a cycle lane 
as well to encourage cycling.   

relevant sections to 
clarify that this 
‘boulevard’ is intended 
as a green boulevard 
and shared space for 
walking and cycling 
alongside vehicles that 
will provide a safe and 
attractive north-south 
route through the 
estate.  The SPD 
makes it clear that the 
Council would not 
accept proposals that 
result in ‘rat-running’ 
through residential 
areas 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 Natural 
England 

Dawn 
Kinrade 

 
 Draft Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)  
Thank you for your consultation on the above 
dated 12 February 2021, which was received 
by Natural England on 12 February 2021.  

 
Comments noted.  It is 
considered that 
generally the SPD 
includes sufficient 
reference to green 

 
The following 
sentence is added 
to the end of the first 
paragraph in the 
introduction to the 

P
age 123



58 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
Natural England is a non-departmental public 
body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that 
the natural environment is conserved, 
enhanced, and managed for the benefit of 
present and future generations, thereby 
contributing to sustainable development.  
 
Our remit includes protected sites and 
landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity, soils, 
protected species, landscape character, green 
infrastructure and access to and enjoyment of 
nature.  
 
While we welcome this opportunity to give our 
views, the topic this Supplementary Planning 
Document covers is unlikely to have major 
effects on the natural environment, but may 
nonetheless have some effects. We therefore 
do not wish to provide specific comments, but 
advise you to consider the following issues:  
Green Infrastructure  
 
This SPD could consider making provision for 
Green Infrastructure (GI) within development. 
This should be in line with any GI strategy 
covering your area.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 
states that local planning authorities should  

spaces.  However, it is 
agreed that it would be 
helpful to include more 
specific reference to 
biodiversity 

Open Spaces and 
Play Strategy 
section ‘The 
creation of open 
spaces also offers 
the opportunity to 
deliver areas of 
biodiversity value 
that will contribute to 
meeting the 
biodiversity net gain 
within new 
development.’ 
 
An additional bullet 
is added under 
figure 10 to read 
‘Delivery of 
biodiversity net gain 
across the SPD 
area through the 
creation of well-
designed green 
spaces and other 
measures (e.g. bat 
and bird boxes) to 
increase biodiversity 
value.’ 
 
  

P
age 124



59 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

‘take a strategic approach to maintaining and 
enhancing networks of habitats and green 
infrastructure’. The Planning Practice 
Guidance on Green Infrastructure provides 
more detail on this.  
 
Urban green space provides multi-functional 
benefits. It contributes to coherent and resilient 
ecological networks, allowing species to move 
around within, and between, towns and the 
countryside with even small patches of habitat 
benefitting movement. Urban GI is also 
recognised as one of the most effective tools 
available to us in managing environmental 
risks such as flooding and heat waves. 
Greener neighbourhoods and improved access 
to nature can also improve public health and 
quality of life and reduce environmental 
inequalities.  
There may be significant opportunities to 
retrofit green infrastructure in urban 
environments. These can be realised through:  

 green roof systems and roof gardens;  

 green walls to provide insulation or 
shading and cooling;  

 new tree planting or altering the 
management of land (e.g. management 
of verges to enhance biodiversity).  

 
You could also consider issues relating to the 

P
age 125



60 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

protection of natural resources, including air 
quality, ground and surface water and soils 
within urban design plans.  
Further information on GI is include within The 
Town and Country Planning Association’s 
"Design Guide for Sustainable Communities" 
and their more recent "Good Practice 
Guidance for Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity".  
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
 
This SPD could consider incorporating features 
which are beneficial to wildlife within 
development, in line with paragraph 118 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. You may 
wish to consider providing guidance on, for 
example, the level of bat roost or bird box 
provision within the built structure, or other 
measures to enhance biodiversity in the urban 
environment. An example of good practice 
includes the Exeter Residential Design Guide 
SPD, which advises (amongst other matters) a 
ratio of one nest/roost box per residential unit. 
  
Landscape enhancement  
 
The SPD may provide opportunities to 
enhance the character and local 
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and 

P
age 126



61 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

built environment; use natural resources more 
sustainably; and bring benefits for the local 
community, for example through green 
infrastructure provision and access to and 
contact with nature. Landscape 
characterisation and townscape assessments, 
and associated sensitivity and capacity 
assessments provide tools for planners and 
developers to consider how new development 
might makes a positive contribution to the 
character and functions of the landscape 
through sensitive siting and good design and 
avoid unacceptable impacts.  
 
For example, it may be appropriate to seek 
that, where viable, trees should be of a species 
capable of growth to exceed building height 
and managed so to do, and where mature 
trees are retained on site, provision is made for 
succession planting so that new trees will be 
well established by the time mature trees die.  
 
Other design considerations  
 
The NPPF includes a number of design 
principles which could be considered, including 
the impacts of lighting on landscape and 
biodiversity (para 180).  
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats 

P
age 127



62 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

Regulations Assessment  
 
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment only in exceptional circumstances 
as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance 
here. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to 
likely significant effects on European Sites, 
they should be considered as a plan under the 
Habitats Regulations in the same way as any 
other plan or project. If your SPD requires a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment or 
Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are 
required to consult us at certain stages as set 
out in the Planning Practice Guidance.  
 
Should the plan be amended in a way  which 
significantly affects its impact on the natural 
environment, then, please consult Natural 
England again.  
 
Please send all planning consultations 
electronically to the consultation hub at 
consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 

8 Resident Resident Hope you don't mind me making an 
observation as a resident and a RBC citizen. I 
believe inclusion of neurodiverse conditions 
needs to be intentional and impact assessed 
as standard, it is often overlooked or bolted on 
as an afterthought. EqIA disability impact (from 
personal experience & knowledge) needs to be 

Comment noted and 
has been passed to 
the relevant team 
within the Council for 
considered in respect 
of the format of the 
EqIA. 

No change 

P
age 128



63 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

inclusive of neurodiverse conditions (e.g. 
learning disability, autism spectrum conditions, 
Asperger's, dyslexia)l mental health and 
sensory conditions equal to physical disability 
to be useful. Best wishes. 
 

9 Resident Resident I have lived in Falinge for over 50 years and 
have great love for the area. I want you to not 
waste this opportunity to have Lower Falinge 
morph into a green vibrant spacious homely 
area, to go along with Falinge Park, Saint 
Edmunds Church, and the lovely old early 20th 
century housing that surrounds it. For me this 
means building normal housing, not high rise, 
not tower blocks, but nice normal homes with 
gardens for families. The car park on Sheriff 
Street by the remaining blocks is ideal for the 
family homes, please do gardens for the 
families as not enough new homes consider 
gardens (your new homes on Toad Lane have 
tiny tiny gardens, children need bigger than 
that). 
 
It is good that you are keeping some of the old 
Lower Falinge blocks, I know Thetford block 
and it has good people and is well kept, it 
should stay. I don't think you should build any 
more tall things on the current car park area 
though, as a local of over 50 years I like to see 
tidy low rise housing, I think it is smarter, and 

Comments noted.  The 
SPD makes reference 
to the need to deliver a 
range of homes within 
the area 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted above, 
wording has been 
added to the SPD 
which makes reference 
to the sensitive use of 
building heights along 
key routes and key 

No change  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted above, 
The following text 
has been added to 
the Land Use 
Strategy section 
stating that the SPD 
requires ‘4. The 

P
age 129



64 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

would make the area look better. Your plans 
make it looks like you are considering putting 
high flats next to Sheriff Street right by 
Thetford block, but if you do that you would be 
ruining the look of the open space area, low 
nice houses with gardens are the way to go. 
Lots of trees too please. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

locations whilst taking 
account of their 
appropriateness within 
the wider development 
 
In terms of trees there 
is references in the 
document relating to 
open spaces, green 
links and quality public 
realm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

sensitive use of 
building heights to 
strengthen key 
routes and key 
locations across the 
neighbourhood, 
whilst respecting the 
wider residential 
scale across 
existing adjacent 
neighbourhoods.’ 
 
In addition the 
section on scale and 
massing has been 
amended to state 
the following 
(new/amended text 
is underlined): 
Some marker 
buildings could be 
located as 
landmarks on the 
urban landscape, 
subject to their 
sensitive design and 
appropriateness 
alongside wider 
development and 
investment. 

P
age 130



65 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
 
I have a friend who used to live on Lower 
Falinge and had a garage, and although they 
are no longer there, it leads me to worry in 
your plans where are you going to let the 
Thetford and Stavordale residents park once 
you build on their current car park? Some 
currently have their own garage, the equivalent 
of their own private parking space. But once 
you knock it all down they will have to leave it 
where? On a main road and hope there's 
somewhere free? What if they have children, 
shopping, luggage, mobility issues - where can 
they park and keep their car where they know 
there will always be a space? You don't 
mention anything for that, only off road parking 
(driveways I presume) for any new housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
As noted against 
earlier comments, any 
proposals will need to 
ensure appropriate 
access and parking for 
existing and new 
residents, including 
businesses.  However, 
it is not possible or 
appropriate for the 
SPD to be too 
prescriptive in terms of 
specific areas for car 
parking. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
As noted earlier, a 
paragraph has been 
added to Section 6 
Transport and 
Access as follows: 
VI. Car Parking 
provision – The 
SPD does not set 
out any specific 
requirements in 
respect of car 
parking provision 
across the area.  
Site specific 
proposals that come 
forward will need to 
demonstrate that 
they deliver 
appropriate levels of 
car parking to meet 
the needs of 
existing and future 
residents.  Car 
parking should be 
located and 
designed in such a 
way to avoid car 
dominated streets 

P
age 131



66 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
 
 
 
Greenery, and by that I mean things like grass 
verges and flower beds, trees, open sight lines, 
all of that is important. Don't build high, don't 
try to cram as many people in as you can. You 
have the future area on the other side of Lidl to 
work with long term. Don't over cram the Lower 
Falinge / Sheriff Street / Spotland Road part. 
Build well, build green, build houses and 
gardens. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Don't fill the estate with too many roads, that 
makes things noisy for the new homes, I feel 

 
 
 
 
Comment noted.  
There is reference to 
the importance green 
spaces, biodiversity, 
green links and public 
realm within the SPD. 
 
As noted earlier, the 
new development is 
likely to include 
housing but may also 
include some higher 
density development to 
ensure an appropriate 
amount of new 
housing is delivered.  
The SPD makes it 
clear that taller 
buildings and higher 
densities will be 
appropriately and 
sensitively located 
having regard to 
residential amenity. 
  
The SPD seeks to 

and deliver 
attractive residential 
environments. 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A number of 

P
age 132



67 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

dead end streets for the homes is the best 
thing, giving each little "close" their own feel. It 
would also stop youths and trouble makers 
being able to tear down the street in their car 
or motorbike.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I walk to the shops under Thetford block, so I 
don't see why you need to fill that front area 
with off road parking. There is already parking 
on Spotland Road for the shops, shouldn't the 
area in front of the shops be greened up, with 
trees, flowers, a quiet area making it pleasant 
to walk through to the shops and for those 
living above it. Why would you want to have 
cars pull off the main road and park up right by 

identify a hierarchy of 
streets and promotes 
walking and cycling. 
 
In terms of these 
concerns text has 
been added to make it 
clear that propsals that 
result in ‘rat running’ 
through the estate will 
not be accepted  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted against 
similar comments 
above, given the 
comments received, it 
is now considered that 
the inclusion of parking 
in front of the Thetford 
block is not required 
and that adequate 

amendments have 
been made to the 
section dealing with 
Focus Area 1- 
Abbeydale Road to 
address these 
issues/concerns.  
This includes adding 
the following ‘Any 
proposed 
interventions in 
Abbeydale Road 
and Spotland Road 
must be considered 
in combination. The 
Council will not 
accept proposals 
that result in ‘rat-
running’ through 
residential areas.’ 
 
Reference to 
parking in front of 
the Thetford block 
removed from 
Figure 14. And 
reference to it 
removed from the 
text 
 

P
age 133



68 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

the shops. Spotland Road has traditionally had 
3 groups of shopping areas, this one under 
Thetford block, the one with the chemist 
opposite the Doctors surgery, and the area 
further down towards Clarkes Lane, and none 
of these ever had a problem with just parking 
on Spotland Road or being for people to walk 
to. You don't need to waste land that could be 
turned green by turning it into a car park for 
shoppers. Eastern Restaurant would likely 
monopolise it from the evening from what I 
have seen. You have the power to make 
residents lives cleaner greener and better, 
don't spoil that by putting unneeded shoppers 
parking under tenants windows. 
 
Thank you for your time. 
 

parking currently exists 
on Spotland Road. 
 

 
 

10   Please note this text is also included as a 
separate accompanying PDF. 
 
Regarding the Equalities Impact Assessment; 
 
Racial groups 
Asylum seekers and refugees use homes here. 
People fleeing war, conflict, violence, abuse 
etc are more likely to have PTSD too. This can 
mean they are more likely to live alone and 
need 1-bed homes. This can also mean they 
need to live away from sources 

 
 
 
The comments relating 
to the EqIA 
predominately relate to 
the removal of 1-bed 
homes without 
replacing this type of 
accommodation. 
 
The SPD does not 

 
 
 
No change required 
in terms of EqIA 
(note related 
changes to the SPD 
above linked to 
issues relating to 
roads within the 
estate) 
 

P
age 134



69 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

of sensory stimulus (eg roads) due to the 
symptoms of PTSD. 
The BAME community in Rochdale are almost 
twice as likely to live in social housing, and 
some ethnic groups such as Rochdale's Gypsy 
or Irish Traveller community and Rochdale's 
Black community are almost three times as 
likely to live in social housing. 
These groups are disproportionately reliant on 
social housing in Rochdale (Census 2011). 
 
RBH's plans will reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes here, and will reduce the number of 
homes overall. 
RBH has already reduced the number of 
homes here; in Phase 3 RBH demolished 103 
homes, they are building only 55. 
 
The reduction in the number of 1-bed homes 
here and the number of homes here overall, 
will impact negatively upon these groups. 
 
Gender 
 
Women, transgender and non-binary people 
fleeing domestic violence are likely to need 1-
bed homes. Transgender and non-binary 
people are less likely to be in a household 
with children and therefore have a 
disproportionate need for 1-bed homes. 

preclude the 
development of 1-bed 
homes and 
encourages a mix of 
property types that 
reflect housing needs. 
 
There is also reference 
to the fact that the 
redevelopment of the 
estate could bring new 
roads through the 
estate.  Whilst roads 
will be required to 
provide appropriate 
access, the SPD 
places an emphasis on 
creating a safe and 
attractive environment 
that promotes walking 
and cycling. 
 
There is also reference 
to the importance of 
greenspace.  Again, 
the SPD includes 
specific requirements 
in terms of open space 
and the need for good 
quality public realm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 135



70 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

RBH's plans reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes on the estate by a considerable 
amount. RBH has already demolished 67 1-
bed homes here; they are building only 20 1-
bed homes. This is already a 70% reduction in 
the number of 1-bed homes after 
Phases 1, 2 and 3 of RBH's plans. 
This will negatively impact upon these groups. 
 
Disability 
RBH's plans specifically target 1-bed ground 
floor homes, that are suitable for disabled 
people to live in independently, and remove 
them from the estate. 
 
RBH's plans also show that the new build 1-
bed homes will be considerably smaller than 
the existing 1-bed homes currently here; this 
will clearly impact disabled people negatively 
because disabled people often need more 
space to move around in, not smaller rooms 
that are difficult to navigate, especially for 
those with mobility difficulties and wheelchair 
users. 
 
Autistic adults have a higher risk of 
homelessness and need homes that are away 
from sources of sensory stimulus (eg roads) 
but RBH's plans will remove all homes of this 
type from the estate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 136



71 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
People with mental health disabilities need to 
live near plentiful green space because of the 
positive affects of this. RBH's plans have 
already reduced the amount of green space 
here. The previous green space outside 
Melrose block was much bigger than what will 
be available when Phase 3 is finished. 
People who are Guide Dog owners, or 
assistance animal owners, or whose pets are a 
protective factor against suicide, need homes 
that are suitable for their animals too. These 
people may also need to live away from roads, 
and near to green space too. 
 
RBH's plans will remove many ground floor 
single level individual entrance homes from the 
estate and will reduce the amount of green 
space here too. 
RBH have already demolished 67 1-bed 
homes here. 33 were 1-bed ground floor 
homes with individual entrances that were 
especially disabled-friendly. RBH is not 
replacing these disabled-friendly types of 
homes. 
 
All of this will negatively impact upon disabled 
people. 
 
Sexual Orientation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 137



72 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

LGBQ people are less likely to be in a 
household with children and therefore have a 
disproportionate need for 1-bed homes. LGBQ 
people fleeing domestic violence or abusive 
home lives also have a need for 1-bed homes. 
RBH's plans will reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes available, and the overall number of 
homes available. This will negatively impact 
upon these groups. 
 
Age 
Young people fleeing abusive home lives need 
1-beds. Care-leavers need 1-beds. 
 
Elderly people need ground floor homes and 
often 1-beds. 
 
RBH's plans will reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes available, and the overall number of 
homes available. 
 
This will negatively impact upon these groups. 
 
Gender reassignment 
Transgender people who have undergone 
gender reassignment who are fleeing domestic 
violence need 1-bed homes. Transgender 
people who have undergone gender 
reassignment are less likely to be in a 
household with children and therefore have a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 138



73 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

disproportionate need for 1-bed homes. 
RBH's plans will reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes available and the overall number of 
homes available too. 
This will negatively impact upon this group. 
 
Carers 
 
Disabled people who live in a 1-bed home on 
Lower Falinge can currently have a carer stay 
overnight when necessary by using the 
separate lounge as a temporary bedroom. 
The new build 1-bed homes will have 
combined kitchen+lounge areas, instead of 
separate rooms, so the lounge area cannot be 
used as a temporary bedroom for a carer. 
This will negatively impact upon carers and 
those they care for. 
 
Serving/Ex-serving members of the armed 
forces 
 
People in the armed forces/ex-armed forces 
also need 1-bed homes if they have no family 
home to return to. 
The higher incidence of PTSD in serving/ex-
serving people also means they have a higher 
risk of homelessness, and a higher likeliness of 
living alone and needing a 1-bed. 
They also need to live away from sources of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 139



74 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

noise (eg roads) and other sources of sensory 
stimulus due to the symptoms of PTSD. 
 
People who own service animals need access 
to ground floor single level individual access 
homes too. 
 
RBH's plans will remove all homes that are 
away from sources of sensory stimulus from 
the estate, will reduce the number of 1-bed 
homes here, and will reduce the number of 
homes overall. 
This will negatively impact upon this group. 
 
The number of 1-beds available for people with 
protected characteristics has already been 
devastated by RBH's demolition so far. 
 
If RBH continue with their plans, there will be 
no suitable housing in the town 
centre for these groups.  
 This EqIA gives no consideration to the impact 
of RBH's plans upon these groups. 
 
Regarding the Statement of Consultation; 
 
The appendices do not contain any Lower 
Falinge information. Everything included here 
is for College Bank. This is unacceptable. If the 
Council is running a public consultation, the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The information 
included in the 
Statement of 
Consultation is factual 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 

P
age 140



75 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

Council should ensure that the correct 
information is included. 
 
RBH's consultation was inadequate and 
exclusionary. I wrote to the (then) DCLG about 
my concerns as follows on 09/08/2017; 
"Concerns relating to me/my disability. 
My landlord (Rochdale Boroughwide Housing; 
henceforth RBH) has been aware of my 
disability for some time but does not appear to 
have given any consideration to my disability 
when planning/running the consultation. As a 
result, I haven’t been able to be fully involved 
in the consultation that has already taken 
place. 
 
I am unable to attend regeneration 
workshops/events run by RBH due to my 
disability. I requested a single named point of 
contact from RBH who would be able to 
communicate with me by email to discuss the 
regeneration plans and to answer my 
questions. I was given a single named point of 
contact (my housing officer) but RBH 
hasn’t given my named point of contact any 
information that would allow them to actually 
respond and discuss things with me ... as a 
result, I keep getting passed to other staff 
members, which totally negates the point of the 
reasonable adjustment I requested in the first 

information relating to 
previous consultation 
that at that time also 
covered the College 
Bank area. 
 
The fact that there are 
limited references in 
relation to Lower 
Falinge simply reflect 
the fact that a lot of the 
comments received 
during that particular 
consultation related 
more to College Bank. 
 
It is not possible to 
respond to specific, 
individual experiences 
in relation to that 
earlier consultation. 
 
The consultation in 
relation to the SPD has 
been undertaken in 
conformity the 
Regulations for 
producing an SPD and 
the Council’s 
Statement of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 141



76 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

place. 
 
I have explained to RBH several times that 
face-to-face communication and telephone 
communication both cause me significant 
disadvantage due to my disability. I have been 
very clear about this, and I have given RBH 
lots of information about my disability and the 
way it affects me. RBH has repeatedly tried to 
get me to engage with them using their 
preferred methods of communication despite 
the fact that they know that these methods 
discriminate against me and despite the fact 
that I have requested a single named point of 
contact and communication by email. 
 
I have tried to communicate by email with 
RBH, in order to have a conversation about the 
regeneration, but I have been forced to wait 
weeks and weeks for replies from RBH 
(over 5 weeks for every reply I have received 
so far). I have asked questions about the 
regeneration and about the information given 
out by RBH; RBH won’t answer my questions. 
While I have been waiting for answers from 
RBH, and have been waiting to 
be involved in the consultation properly, RBH 
has finished the first phase of the consultation 
and has moved on to the second phase of 
consultation without giving me the opportunity 

Community 
Involvement (SCI) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 142



77 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

to be meaningfully involved in phase one. (I 
wasn’t able to say whether I 
liked or disliked any of the options presented 
by RBH because I was not given enough 
information about the options. When I asked 
for more information, RBH delayed replying 
to me, and then suddenly, phase one was 
over.) 
 
I have been unable to speak to the architects. 
RBH told me that it is not possible for me to 
communicate with the architects by email; 
other residents had the opportunity to speak to 
the architects at workshops/events. I also 
emailed the architects directly and requested 
that they make a reasonable adjustment for 
me. I received no acknowledgement or reply 
from the architects at all. I feel that I should be 
offered the same opportunity as other 
residents; to speak to the architects directly, 
just by email. I believe not providing me with 
this opportunity amounts to disability 
discrimination. 
 
I have been asking for documents and 
information relating to the regeneration plans 
since November 2016. I have not received any 
of the documents and information I have asked 
for. From reading the DCLG guidance, my 
understanding is that I should be able 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 143



78 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

to have has much information as possible 
about the plans, so that I can make informed 
decisions. RBH won’t give me any information 
at all, not even simple information that they 
must have e.g. I asked for the sample sizes 
used in pie-charts produced by RBH for Lower 
Falinge. RBH won’t even tell me the sample 
sizes for the statistics they are using. 
 
I asked RBH when they would be making a 
decision about which option to take forward. I 
asked for the date this decision would be made 
and the date residents would be informed. 
RBH  didn’t provide me with an answer. On 
21/6/17 I was told by my housing officer that: “I 
have asked questions as you have and have 
been informed that at this time everything is 
under consideration and there is no definite 
plan yet.”.  
 
On 24/6/17, just 3 days later, RBH announced 
that they had chosen option 3! 
 
I have been given no information at all about 
the home visit process that RBH intends to run 
on my estate. I have asked not to receive an 
actual home visit, and for this process to be 
done via email for me. RBH intends to have 
their Masterplan drawn up by “late 2017”, so 
given the delays caused by written 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 144



79 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

communication, I need to start this process 
now to ensure that I am able to take part in it 
fully and that I am able to complete it. RBH 
appear to be totally unprepared for this. 
 
I am trying to have an open and honest 
conversation with RBH about the regeneration 
but RBH does not appear to want to actively 
discuss anything with me and is behaving as 
though I have ‘suddenly sprung my disability 
upon them’ when they have known for 
several years about my disability and this 
should have been considered prior to the 
consultation beginning. To my mind I should be 
able to have the same opportunities as other 
residents, but by email. If this disorganised 
approach to including me in the consultation 
continues as RBH progresses through their 
plans, then I will in effect have been excluded 
from the consultation process due to my 
disability. 
 
General concerns. 
 
RBH has chosen to bundle Lower Falinge 
estate and College Bank estate together. 
 
Despite their close proximity to each other, 
these two estates have different 
demographics and different resident needs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 145



80 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
Information on boards at workshops for Lower 
Falinge has been incorrect. One 
workshop board contained information relating 
to College Bank estate, not Lower Falinge. The 
same error is present in copies of the 
workshop boards subsequently published 
online by RBH. When I asked for a copy of the 
correct information, RBH denied the existence 
of this error. 
 
Contact information has been changed several 
times and has been incorrect. So far, four 
different contact email address have been 
published by RBH; the first was an 
unmonitored internal email address (this was 
included on leaflets given out by RBH); the 
second was RBH’s generic customer service 
email address; the third contained a ‘typo’ and 
didn’t work (again, this was given out on 
leaflets from RBH) thus creating the need for a 
fourth email address to be given out. How can 
residents have any confidence that 
RBH know what they are doing if RBH can’t 
even get their own contact email address 
information correct. 
 
RBH has chosen to employ a method of 
consultation (workshops/events) that is neither 
a reliable or appropriate method of consultation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 146



81 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

for Lower Falinge estate. Residents here are 
unlikely to attend workshops/events and RBH 
is aware of this and the need to be much more 
proactive when attempting to engage residents 
living on this estate. 
 
Workshops and events have been held only 
once … residents have had one chance to 
attend any one workshop/event and if they 
can’t attend on that day at that time, that’s it, 
there is no other chance to attend that 
workshop/event. I would like to see future 
workshops run on multiple days, across a 
week and including a weekend, so that 
residents have a real chance to attend if they 
wish, as alternative dates to attend the same 
workshop will then be available. I mean, it may 
be unlikely that residents will attend, but this is 
surely all the more reason for RBH to be 
seeking to encourage and maximise 
attendance by running each workshop/event 
more than once. 
 
For many residents here English is not a first 
language. From what I can tell, these residents 
have so far not been included in the 
consultation. One of my immediate neighbours 
here is a family whose first language is Polish. 
These neighbours were completely unaware of 
the regeneration plans and the fact that RBH 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 147



82 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

has chosen to pursue an option which means 
the demolition of their home until my partner 
recently 
managed to speak to their son who is more 
fluent in English. RBH must know which 
tenants of theirs require information in other 
languages but RBH has so far made no effort 
to include these residents in the consultation. 
Many residents here work. workshops/events 
have been held at times of day when working 
residents are unable to attend. My other 
immediate neighbour here works. He was 
unable to attend the initial event held by RBH 
in November 2016. He was unable to attend 
the workshop in February 2017. He was 
unable to attend the workshop in March 
2017. The first event he would have been able 
to attend, being the only event held at a 
weekend, took place in June 2017 and at this 
event, RBH announced that they had chosen 
option 3 and ‘option appraisal’ was over. 
 
RBH is now conducting individual home visits 
about the regeneration and plans. RBH does 
not appear to be providing any appropriate 
support (e.g. independent advocacy; 
independent legal advice; independent 
translators etc) for residents during these 
home 
visits. RBH does not appear to be providing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 148



83 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

appointments to residents for these home 
visits. RBH is using “employee volunteers from 
teams across RBH” (not housing staff 
with the regeneration knowledge to answer 
questions) to carry out the home visit process 
which begs the questions; why was this home 
visit process not conducted at the start of 
consultation to ensure all residents were 
included, and what is RBH 
spending the enablement grant funding on? 
 
RBH will not guarantee that residents who wish 
to remain living on Lower Falinge after the 
regeneration will be able to stay living here. I 
would very much like to exercise my right to 
remain on my estate but RBH will make no 
commitment to this. This is  xtremely 
concerning (and distressing) to me, and all 
other residents who wish to remain living on 
Lower Falinge post-regeneration. 
 
RBH has not yet provided a Residents’ 
Charter. I was told that there would be more 
information about the Residents’ Charter at the 
RBH regeneration event of 24/6/17, but there 
is no mention of a Residents’ Charter 
anywhere in the information given out by RBH. 
There is mention of a “residents’ deal” but this 
relates only to management opportunities once 
the regeneration is complete. RBH is 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 149



84 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

months into the consultation process, and 
expects to have completed the process by “late 
2017”, but there is no sign of a Residents’ 
Charter." 
 
In addition to this; 
The DCLG created the Estate Regeneration 
Fund based upon special areas of focus; 
certain housing estates in England. Lower 
Falinge was selected by the Government as 
part of the Spend Mapping Pilot for the Estate 
Regeneration Fund scheme. 
 
The Fund was literally created with Lower 
Falinge in mind but despite this RBH's 
application to the Estate Regeneration Fund, 
and their consultation process (for which 
they received a grant from the Fund of half a 
million pounds), were so poor that their 
application was not successful. 
 
I was actively excluded from the consultation 
by RBH because RBH refused to provide the 
reasonable adjustments I needed to be 
involved. (The DCLG informed me RBH were 
expected to provide the specialist support I 
needed.) 
 
I made a formal complaint about this lack of 
reasonable adjustments and then when RBH 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 150



85 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

still refused to provide the support I needed, I 
took this complaint to the Housing 
Ombudsman Service. The HOS ordered RBH 
to pay me compensation due to service failure 
and inadequate complaint investigation on 
RBH’s part. 
 
I was not allowed to speak to the architects. 
RBH have designed new build homes that are 
unsuitable for me. RBH say they cannot design 
a new build home that would be suitable for 
me. The new build homes are not for existing 
residents as RBH claim, and 
they have not been designed with us as RBH 
claim. 
 
I did help to design a survey about the 
Resident's Charter with third-party consultant 
Helen Nichol, who was able to provide the 
reasonable adjustment I needed to be involved 
with her part in the process. RBH did not even 
invite me to fill in the survey I helped design. 
 
Furthermore, this Residents' Charter was not 
put in place by RBH until well after all 
meaningful consultation had finished, and after 
a large number of households had already 
been moved out of their homes, and off the 
estate, by RBH. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 151



86 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

I was not allowed to see or comment on the 
Residents’ Charter until after an unknown 
number of anonymous so-called 
'representatives' had already been allowed to 
have this opportunity, and had already signed 
it. 
 
The Commonplace online consultation portal is 
owned and run by a third party who do not 
moderate access or replies to consultation 
projects. RBH did not 'set up' this consultation 
portal; they merely submitted their plans to it in 
order to use the service. 
 
Only 19 comments were recorded on the 
Lower Falinge plans and it is misleading to 
state that there were 36. Furthermore, there is 
no way to tell if the 19 people who replied to 
the Lower Falinge plans are actually residents 
of Lower Falinge, or even of Rochdale. 
 
Anyone from anywhere in the country can 
comment anonymously on any plans on this 
website portal and it is therefore also 
misleading to state that these comments are 
from residents. 
The Commonplace site has shown precisely 
one update to the plans and it is misleading to 
state that it has shown regular updates. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 152



87 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

RBH's consultation was inadequate and deeply 
flawed and the results are not representative of 
the actual needs of the community of Lower 
Falinge. 
It is not appropriate for Rochdale Council to 
rely upon, or include, RBH's extremely poor 
consultation within their SPD. 
 
Regarding the Lower Falinge Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) Draft Feb 
2021; 
 
1. The need for investment in Lower Falinge 
has been created by RBH. There has been a 
lack of investment in the homes here from 
RBH during the years they have been 
responsible for this. For example, in 2014 
residents were told by RBH that they would be 
receiving new windows and doors but RBH did 
a small amount of this work and then stopped 
the work without explanation. 
This work was part of the Transfer Agreement 
with Rochdale Council but was never carried 
out; this is noted in RBH Board meeting 
minutes. 
RBH also decided to stop renting out homes 
here, not when they issued the IDNs to 
residents, but much earlier than this, in 2013. 
 
The Council should audit the Home Choice 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These are historical 
matters which are 
outside the scope of 
the SPD.  The purpose 
of the SPD is to 
provide a framework to 
ensure the delivery of 
high quality 
development that is 
anticipated to come 
forward in the area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 153



88 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

records for Lower Falinge because RBH are 
now claiming that these homes are long-term 
voids because no-one wants to live here, 
but on the rare occasion that RBH did 
advertise a 1-bed home on Lower Falinge, 
these homes consistently received more than 
25 bids and were in demand. 
 
The block I live in (I've lived here for 23 years) 
used to be full. It always was for manyyears. It 
only became empty when RBH stopped 
advertising the homes in this block for rent 8 
years ago. 
 
Coupled with the lack of investment, the empty 
homes were left to become virtually derelict, 
meanwhile existing residents have been left to 
live in homes that haven't received any 
investment from RBH at all. 
These homes need investment now to bring 
them up to standard simply because RBH has 
done nothing to invest in them for years. 
 
People who did not receive the new windows 
and doors RBH said they were going to receive 
in 2014, are now being told their homes need 
to be demolished because it will cost too much 
to repair and refurbish them. 
 
RBH have refused to provide residents with 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 154



89 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

any costing figures for refurbishment of blocks 
on Lower Falinge. RBH have also refused to 
provide costing figures for demolition to 
residents. 
 
2. The number of homes in Lower Falinge has 
already reduced considerably since RBH 
became the owners of Lower Falinge. The 
SPD states that Lower Falinge comprises of 
"approximately 400 homes" but RBH received 
523 homes from Rochdale Council at the time 
of Transfer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. The 'vision' the Council seem to have 
includes an intent to remove all housing that is 

 
 
 
 
 
The SPD cannot be 
prescriptive around the 
number of homes that 
will be delivered within 
the area although it is 
assumes that there 
would be an overall 
increase given that the 
SPD supports 
residential 
development in parts 
of the area that are 
currently non-
residential uses. 
This new development 
offers the potential to 
deliver a diverse range 
of housing types that 
can meet housing 
needs within an overall 
improved residential 
environment. 
 
As noted above, whilst 
roads will be required 

 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note changes 
referred to above 

P
age 155



90 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

away from roads and streets in Lower Falinge. 
Neurodiverse people and those with PTSD, 
and others with protected characteristics such 
as disability, often need to live away from 
roads in an environment that keeps sensory 
stimulus to a minimum. 
 
These plans specifically remove this type of 
housing from Lower Falinge and they also 
remove almost all of the particularly disabled-
friendly ground floor single level 1-bed homes 
here too; this is not diversifying the housing 
offer in the area, it is simply making the homes 
in the area unsuitable for disabled people. 
 
RBH refuse to include anything in their designs 
that gives consideration to existing disabled 
residents' needs, and the Council evidently 
support the building of roads and streets 
everywhere. 
 
Not all disabled people can live on, or near, 
roads and streets, and the Council must 
ensure that existing disabled residents who 
already occupy homes that meet this need 
are protected; if RBH will not include homes 
suitable for these people in their plans 
voluntarily, then RBH must be instructed to 
include such homes by the Council. 
 

to provide appropriate 
access, the SPD 
places an emphasis on 
creating a safe and 
attractive environment 
that promotes walking 
and cycling.  The SPD 
is clear that proposals 
that result in’ rat-
running’ through the 
estate will not be 
permitted. 
 
In terms of meeting 
specific needs, the 
Committee Report 
notes that RBH are 
working with residents 
on an individual basis 
to support them to 
move to a new home 
which meets their 
needs and rehousing 
preferences.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

relating to 
clarification on 
terms of streets and 
routes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 156



91 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

One thing that was repeatedly cited as a great 
cause for concern by residents during the 
consultation (and this is noted on the 
information that the Council should have 
included 
in the Appendices to the Statement of 
Consultation) was that existing residents did 
not want roads and streets running through 
their neighbourhood. This concern was 
universal and unifying for existing residents. 
We do not want roads, streets and traffic here. 
 
It is also important to note that on the housing 
estate to the west of Sheriff Street the through-
roads were closed off years ago at the request 
of the community. This was done 
to prevent through-traffic, such as that which is 
now being proposed in Lower Falinge, in this 
adjacent neighbourhood. 
 
4. The SPD states that it "aims to ... reduce the 
emphasis placed on the use and 
accommodation of motor vehicles", but then 
suggests that the best way to achieve this is to 
create motor vehicle access in areas where 
there was none previously, at the expense of 
pedestrianised communal green open spaces, 
by building roads and streets 
everywhere. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See comments above 
regarding streets and 
traffic management. 
 
It is also important to 
note that whilst there is 
currently limited traffic 
within the existing 
estate on the western 
part of the site, the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note changes 
relating to access 
and movement 
referred to above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 157



92 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

The Council cannot possibly reduce the 
emphasis placed on the use of and 
accommodation of motor vehicles by building 
streets and roads in areas that are currently 
purely pedestrianised/used by cyclists! 
 
The Council cannot possibly claim that this 
prioritises the safety and ease of use for 
pedestrians either, as it is currently very safe to 
walk around, because almost all of the paths 
are completely free of motor vehicles. 
 
The SPD claims it "recognises the role that 
different streets and green areas have to the 
creation of this quality and accessible 
environment." 
 
Firstly, disabled people already have access to 
a quality and accessible environment here, and 
one that is notably safe because it is road, 
street, parked car, and traffic free. 
Secondly, the SPD completely neglects to 
recognise the role that this different type of 
environment (one that is free of motor vehicles 
and their accompanying noise, danger and 
pollution) plays in the quality and accessibility 
of the environment around homes for disabled 
people and children. 
 
5. The SPD states that "New development 

SPD area is wider and 
does include areas 
that currently include 
vehicular streets. 
 
Therefore the purpose 
of the SPD is to ensure 
the delivery a well-
managed streets 
across the area, with 
an emphasis on better 
connectivity for walking 
and cycling. 
 
It is anticipated that 
this would deliver a 
more attractive, 
accessible 
neighbourhood for all 
members of the 
community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The approach to open 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 

P
age 158



93 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

should maintain and enhance existing open 
space provision" but the existing open space 
here has already been reduced by RBH. 
 
The previous green space near Melrose block 
was much bigger than what will be available 
when Phase 3 is finished. 
 
The total area of community space (green 
space and play area and community garden) 
after Phase 3 is completed will be 43% smaller 
than the total area of community space 
available there before demolition (several 
green spaces and play area). 
The children's play area alone will be 63% 
smaller than pre-demolition; the green space 
alone will be 32% smaller. 
 
The number of homes in the Phase 3 area with 
immediate access to community space (i.e. 
access without the need to cross a road or 
street or to navigate parked cars or traffic) has 
been significantly reduced, from all 103 homes 
demolished in Phase 3, to zero, since this 
community space is now surrounded by roads 
and streets when it wasn’t previously. 
 
RBH's plans for the rest of the estate will 
remove at least three more large, open, 
accessible, pedestrian safe, motor vehicle free, 

space is across the 
SPD area and seeks to 
ensure a network of 
linked, high quality 
open spaces.   
 
Some of the open 
space referred to in the 
comments may relate 
to open spaces around 
blocks.  Whilst it is 
acknowledged that this 
open space may have 
informal recreational 
value it may not have 
been specifically 
identified or laid our as 
an area of open space. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 159



94 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

green spaces currently utilised by existing 
residents including children of all ages, in 
favour of building road and streets. 
 
The number of disabled-friendly ground floor 
single level 1-bed homes will be reduced, and 
1-bed home occupants will lose access to 
gardens too, which are another source of 
green space and recreational exercise and 
leisure activity, and also a source of play for a 
variety of ages. 
 
6. The SPD states that it "aspires to a high 
quality, accessible network of clean, safe and 
attractive open spaces across Lower Falinge 
that will allow people to improve their health 
and well-being through recreation and sport." 
Residents already have this in Lower Falinge. 
The amount of green open space will be 
significantly reduced by RBH's plans and will 
be replaced by roads and streets. 
 
This will also increase pollution in the area as 
the current pedestrianised areas become filled 
with roads and streets and parked cars and 
traffic. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted in the SPD, 
the document is aimed 
at guiding new 
development within the 
area.  It is anticipated 
that new development 
will come forward in 
this area and the 
purpose of the SPD is 
to ensure what is 
delivered is of high 
quality and reflects a 
comprehensive 
approach to the 
delivery of supporting 
infrastructure and 
linkages 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 160



95 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

7. This SPD states that "An inclusive and 
legible movement network should be delivered 
through a well-defined hierarchy of streets, 
safe pedestrian and cycle routes across Lower 
Falinge." 
 
Lower Falinge already has safe pedestrian and 
cycle routes across it; residents really don't 
need a 'well defined hierarchy of streets' to 
'deliver' this because it already exists. 
 
RBH locked the gates on the outer fence of 
Lower Falinge many years ago, that's why 
people don't use these routes; they literally 
can't because of RBH. 
 
8. I'm autistic and as a result I have very 
specific housing needs. For example, I need to 
live away from roads, streets and junctions, 
and near to green spaces. 
 
My current home is far enough away from 
roads, streets and junctions to meet this need, 
and it is surrounded by plentiful green space 
on both sides. My current home meets my 
needs and it has done so for the past 23 years. 
 
The block I live in was always in high demand 
until RBH stopped renting out the homes in it. 
 

See comment above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted.  See 
responses above 
regarding 
diversification of 
housing types and the 
reference in the 
Committee Report 
regarding needs and 
re-housing 
preferences. 
 
 
 
  

No change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change 

P
age 161



96 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

This housing is also suitable for many other 
groups with protected characteristics too, but 
these plans will remove this type of housing 
from Lower Falinge. 
 
The plans will install roads and streets 
everywhere and the large green spaces that 
currently surround my home will not be 
maintained or enhanced; they will be removed. 
 
I will be left with nowhere suitable to live 
because RBH have refused to even discuss 
how something suitable for me could be 
included in their plans. I've been told that "new 
build homes cannot be designed" to be 
suitable for me. 
 
The homes in the retained blocks are 
unsuitable and I've told RBH this on multiple 
occasions but they refuse to accept it. Being 
forced to live in a home that does not meet my 
needs is objectively and demonstrably not 
going to improve my quality of life; it will 
actually create catastrophic risks and impacts 
for me. 
 
It is quite clear that neither RBH's Masterplan 
nor this SPD give any meaningful 
consideration to the needs of existing disabled 
residents who live in Lower Falinge. 

P
age 162



97 

 

Ref 
Number 

Company / 
Organisation 

Name Representation response Response Proposed changes 

 
It is also quite clear that the Council have the 
opportunity to create an inspiring, exceptional, 
pioneering estate in Lower Falinge that is both 
suitable for existing disabled residents and 
provides a better mix of good quality housing. 
 
Instead of seizing this opportunity it seems the 
Council are happy to just go along with 
whatever RBH decide they want to do, 
regardless of whether RBH's plans actually 
meet the needs of existing disabled residents. 

      P
age 163



98 

 

 

Page 164



Document is Restricted

Page 165

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Lower Falinge Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Lower Falinge SPD 2021 - Final
	Statement of Consultation - Sept 2021

	8 Upperbanks - Contract modification

